ECONSTOR Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Brehm, Johannes; Doku, Angela; Escudero, Verónica

Working Paper What has been driving work-to-work transitions in the emerging world? A comparative study of Indonesia and South Africa

ILO Working Paper, No. 89

Provided in Cooperation with:

International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva

Suggested Citation: Brehm, Johannes; Doku, Angela; Escudero, Verónica (2023) : What has been driving work-to-work transitions in the emerging world? A comparative study of Indonesia and South Africa, ILO Working Paper, No. 89, ISBN 978-92-2-038761-0, International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva, https://doi.org/10.54394/ZABU6787

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/278415

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.



https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/igo/

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



What has been driving work-to-work transitions in the emerging world? A comparative study of Indonesia and South Africa

Authors / Johannes Brehm, Angela Doku, Verónica Escudero

Copyright © International Labour Organization 2023



This is an open access work distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 IGO License (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/igo/deed.en). Users can reuse, share, adapt and build upon the original work, even for commercial purposes, as detailed in the License. The ILO must be clearly credited as the owner of the original work. The use of the emblem of the ILO is not permitted in connection with users' work.

Translations – In case of a translation of this work, the following disclaimer must be added along with the attribution: *This translation was not created by the International Labour Organization (ILO) and should not be considered an official ILO translation. The ILO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation.*

Adaptations – In case of an adaptation of this work, the following disclaimer must be added along with the attribution: *This is an adaptation of an original work by the International Labour Organization (ILO). Responsibility for the views and opinions expressed in the adaptation rests solely with the author or authors of the adaptation and are not endorsed by the ILO.*

This CC license does not apply to non-ILO copyright materials included in this publication. If the material is attributed to a third party, the user of such material is solely responsible for clearing the rights with the right holder.

All queries on rights and licensing should be addressed to ILO Publishing (Rights and Licensing), CH-1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland, or by email to rights@ilo.org.

ISBN: 9789220387603 (print) ISBN: 9789220387610 (web-pdf) ISBN: 9789220387627 (epub) ISBN: 9789220387634 (mobi) ISBN: 9789220387641 (html) ISSN: 2708-3446

https://doi.org/10.54394/ZABU6787

The designations employed in ILO publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the ILO concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers.

The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed articles, studies and other contributions rests solely with their authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the ILO of the opinions expressed in them.

Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the ILO, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

ILO Working Papers summarize the results of ILO research in progress, and seek to stimulate discussion of a range of issues related to the world of work. Comments on this ILO Working Paper are welcome and can be sent to RESEARCH@ilo.org, escudero@ilo.org.

Authorization for publication: Richard Samans, Director RESEARCH

ILO Working Papers can be found at: www.ilo.org/global/publications/working-papers

Suggested citation:

Brehm, J., Doku, A., Escudero, V. 2023. *What has been driving work-to-work transitions in the emerging world? – A comparative study of Indonesia and South Africa*, ILO Working Paper 89 (Geneva, ILO).

Abstract

There is little knowledge about the shape, prominence and drivers of work-to-work transitions in low- and middle-income countries. This paper examines these elements in the context of South Africa and Indonesia – two middle-income countries with similar development levels yet different labour market characteristics. We employ a comparative cross-country methodology using long-term panel data. This enables us to examine work-to-work transitions across and within age cohorts and exploit the panel structure of the data through a fixed-effects model to identify the drivers of these transitions. We find that while the prominent transition types differ between the two countries, younger workers have higher transition rates. Moreover, we find that precarious forms of employment are persistent: individuals who start their careers at the bottom of the transition ladder (i.e., in informal work, the agriculture sector or a low-skill occupation) are less likely to transition out of this situation. Finally, we unveil suggestive evidence that computer and socioemotional skills play a role in encouraging certain transitions in South Africa and Indonesia, respectively.

About the authors

Johannes Brehm is a research associate at the RWI – Leibniz Institute for Economic Research and a PhD candidate at the Hertie School. Johannes has studied International Relations at TU Dresden (BA 2016), Development Economics at Universidad Carlos III de Madrid (MSc 2018), and Economics at SOAS London (MSc 2019). Prior to starting his PhD, Johannes was a consultant at the ILO Research Department and worked for national think tanks.

Angela Doku is an applied microeconomist who specializes in environmental, development, and behavioural economics. She is currently a Postdoctoral Scholar in the Kenneth C. Griffin Department of Economics at the University of Chicago, and is also affiliated with the John Mitchell Economics of Poverty Lab in Australia National University. Previously, Angela worked as an Economist at the ILO Research Department, and for organizations such as GIZ, DFID, and the Centre for the Study of African Economies. Angela completed her PhD in Economics at the University of Geneva; an MA in Economics at the University of Toronto; an MSc in Environment and Development at the London School of Economics and Political Science; and a BA Specialized Honors in Economics at York University.

Verónica Escudero joined the Research Department of the ILO in 2008 and today she is Chief of the Skills, ALMPs and Policy Evaluation Team. Between March 2021 and February 2023, she served as a Visiting Scholar with CEGA (Center for Effective Global Action) at the University of California Berkeley. She is a PhD specialized on labour and development economics and applied microeconomics. Her current research focuses on assessing the effectiveness of labour market and social policies on job quality and social conditions and unveiling whether leveraging complementarities between policies can foster their beneficial effect. More recently, she has been exploring topics related to the skills necessary to foster effective transitions to decent work with a focus on low- and middle-income countries, through the use of online data on vacancies and applications to labour portals. She holds a PhD in Economics from Paris School of Economics and the École des Hautes Études en Sciences Sociales (EHESS).

Table of contents

	Abstract	01
	About the authors	01
	Introduction	06
1	Background: Growth and development patterns in Indonesia and South Africa	09
2	Methodology and data	13
	2.1 Data	13
	2.2 Research methods	13
3	Differences in labour market characteristics across and within birth cohorts	15
4	Workers' sorting between different types of transitions: within cohort analysis	20
5	What drives different worker transitions across cohorts?	27
	Conclusion	36
 	Appendix A: Labour Force Survey indicators	38
	Appendix B: Further information on the panel sample sizes and attrition rates in the IFLS (Indonesia) and NIDS (South Africa)	39
	Appendix C: Differences in the composition of labour market variables across and within co- horts in Indonesia and South Africa	44
	Appendix D: Transitions across labour market statuses over time by age-cohort, South Africa and Indonesia	47
	Appendix E: Section 6 – Additional analyses	49
	E.1: Estimations by gender	60
	References	64
	Acknowledgements	68

List of Figures

Figure 1: Share of workers with an employee status or formal working status in South Africa, by age cohort	15
Figure 2: Share of workers by labour force status in South Africa, by age cohort	16
Figure 3: Share of workers in low-, medium-, and high-skill level occupations in South Africa, by age cohort	17
Figure 4: Share of workers with an employee and formal working status in Indonesia, by age cohort	18
Figure 5: Share of workers in low-, medium-, and high-skill level occupations in Indonesia, by age cohort	19
Figure 6: Share of individuals who have transitioned between survey waves and direction of these transitions - status of employment and nature of employment, South Africa	22
Figure 7: Share of individuals who have transitioned between survey waves and direction of these transitions - status of employment and nature of employment, Indonesia	22
Figure 8: Share of individuals who have transitioned across sectors between survey waves and direction of these transitions, South Africa	23
Figure 9: Share of individuals who have transitioned across sectors between survey waves and direction of these transitions, Indonesia	24
Figure 10: Share of individuals who have transitioned between occupation's skill levels amongst survey waves and direction of these transitions, South Africa	25
Figure 11: Share of individuals who have transitioned between occupation's skill levels amongst survey waves and direction of these transitions, Indonesia	26
Figure 12: South Africa stayers vs transitioners: Fractional polynomials	29
Figure 13: South Africa stayers vs transitioners: Cognitive skills	31
Figure 14: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: Fractional polynomials	33
Figure 15: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: taking into account cognitive and noncogni- tive skills	34

List of Tables

Table 1: Key labour market indicators for South Africa and Indonesia, 1995–2019	10
Table 2: Key labour market indicators for South Africa and Indonesia by sex, 1995, 2015 and 2019	11
Table 3: Work-to-work transitions in South Africa and Indonesia, comparable wave lengths	21
Table 4: South Africa: Occupation skill level – stayers vs. transitioners	28
Table 5: South Africa: Nature of employment – stayers vs transitioners	30
Table 6: Indonesia stayers vs. transitioners: Status of employment	32
Table 7: Indonesia stayers vs. transitioners: Sector	33
Table A.1: Key labour market indicators for South Africa and Indonesia by age cohort, 2010, 2016, and 2019	38
Table B.1: Panel sample sizes and attrition rates between waves	40
Table B.2: Panel sample sizes and attrition rates between waves, employment module, Indonesia (IFLS)	41
Table B.3: Results of the tests for selective attrition, South Africa (NIDS)	42
Table B.4: Results of the tests for selective attrition, Indonesia (IFLS)	43
Table C.1: Share of workers by status of employment, sector, occupation skill level and for- mality by age cohort in South Africa, wave 1 (2008) and wave 5 (2017)	44
Table C.2: Share of workers by status of employment, sector, occupation skill level and for- mality in Indonesia by age cohort, wave 1 (1993), wave 4 (2007/08) and wave 5 (2014/15)	45
Table D.1: Share of individuals transitioning across labour force statuses (employment, un- employment and inactivity) between survey waves in South Africa and Indonesia)	47
Table D.2: Share of individuals who have transitioned across different mid-skill level occupa- tions in Indonesia	48
Table E.1: South Africa: Occupation – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive skills	49
Table E.2: South Africa: Nature of Employment – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive skills	50
Table E.3: South Africa: Sector – Stayers vs Transitioners	50
Table E.4: South Africa: Sector – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive skills	51
Table E.5: South Africa: Status of employment – Stayers vs Transitioners	52
Table E.6: South Africa: Status of employment – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive skills	52
Table E.7: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: sector - cognitive and socioemotional skills	53
Table E.8: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: status of employment - cognitive and soci- oemotional skills	54
Table E.9: Indonesia: Nature of Employment – stayers vs transitioners	55
Table E.10: Indonesia: Nature of Employment – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive and socioemotional skills	56
Table E.11: Indonesia: Occupation – stayers vs transitioners	57
Table E.12: Indonesia: Occupation – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive and socioemo- tional skills	58
Table E.13: Indonesia: Sector and status of employment - fractional polynomial estimations	59
Table E.14: South Africa stayers vs. transitioners: Occupation – Men	60
Table F 15: South Africa stavers vs. transitioners: Occupation - Women	60

Table E.16: South Africa stayers vs transitioners: Nature of employment – Men	61
Table E.17: South Africa stayers vs transitioners: Nature of employment – Women	61
Table E.18: Indonesia stayers vs. transitioners: Status of employment – Women	62
Table E.19: Indonesia stayers vs. transitioners: Status of employment – Men	62
Table E.20: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: Sector – Women	63
Table E.21: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: Sector – Men	63

Introduction

Transformative changes in labour markets are redefining and possibly multiplying the work-to-work transitions people experience during their life. Individual-level transitions represent today a key element of labour markets around the world. Still, there is little knowledge regarding the shape and prominence of these transitions, and the implications they have for the development of decent work, career and life trajectories, in low- and middle-income (LMIC) countries. In this paper, we examine these elements comparatively in two middle-income countries: Indonesia and South Africa.

The literature shortage in LMIC is partly due to how we define and interpret transitions, which has evolved significantly over time. The prevailing labour economic literature of the 1990s largely understood transitions as the individual's movement from one labour market status to another, such as from unemployment to employment or from education to the world of work. Conversely, contemporary definitions of transitions include a wider set of phenomena including the different moves faced by people throughout their working lives, and within these transitions, the shift between various working conditions and working relations. For some of these transitions, the most traditional ones, there is a significant body of academic research. For example, there is a meaningful amount of literature on school-to-work transitions and transitions between employment and unemployment in the advanced world ¹ We also find literature on school-to-work transitions within developing and emerging economies,² and there also exists some literature on the transition from unemployment to employment within this context.³

We expect these factors to shape transitions in different ways outside of high-income countries, which implies that the findings from the literature can hardly be generalized across diverse country contexts. For example, temporary employment may take the form of casual employment in LMIC, which is often located within the informal sector (ILO, 2018). We can expect transitions from casual informal employment to permanent for- mal employment to be different from the patterns observed in high-income economies.

Country-specific assessments of work-to-work transitions in LMIC are thus needed. One important component of these assessments, for which there is indeed some relevant literature outside the high-income world, are movements from informal to formal work. For example, McCaig and Pavcnik (2015) find that in Vietnam, individuals who are younger, urban, male, and have a higher level of education are more likely to switch to formal work, highlighting the difficulty of individuals in marginalised groups to make the switch.⁴

Analyses of more comprehensively defined work-to-work transitions are rare in middle-income countries, and when available, the literature suffers limitations. In addition to some research being inconclusive, most studies analyse a single country, which makes them difficult to generalize to other middle-income country contexts. Moreover, to be able to assess transitions, the analysis must track individuals over time. Longer panels capturing more years of an individual's life would allow for observing when transitions take place and assessing the permanency of transitions. However, long-term panel data are scarce outside high-income countries, and the panels that do exist are often short, limiting the conclusions of such analyses. To counteract these limitations, we employ a comparative cross-country methodology in two major middle-income economies, namely Indonesia and South Africa, using rich and long-term panel data. The analysis is conducted in the form of a comparative study to provide insights into the drivers of work-to-work transitions in countries of similar development levels, yet different labour market characteristics. We have also selected these countries given the availability of large and nationally representative individual-level panel datasets – i.e., the National Income Dynamics Study (NIDS) in South Africa with its five waves of panel data from 2008 to 2017, and the Indonesian Family Life Survey (IFLS), which has five waves of data from 1993

See for example Atkinson and Micklewright (1991), Branson and Leibbrandt (2013), Duryea et al. (2007), Glewwe et al. (2017), Jones and Riddell (1999), Jones and Riddell (1995), Osberg (1993), Pugatch (2018), Quintini and Martin (2014), and van den Berg (1990).

See for example Branson and Leibbrandt (2013), Duryea et al. (2007), Glewwe et al. (2017), Pugatch (2018), and Quintini and Martin (2014).

³ See for example Byrne and Strobl (2004), Kingdon and Knight (2004), and Sahin and Kizilirmak (2007).

⁴ See also O'Higgins et al. (2021) who find similar results in Vietnam in their study, Gutierrez et al. (2019) whose study focuses on Bangladesh and Vega Núñez (2018), who investigates informality in Ecuador

to 2014/15. Both countries are among the few in their respective regions in which we can study life-cycle transitions at the individual and cohort levels, counteracting the major data availability and accessibility challenge for the empirical assessment of work-to-work transitions.

The multifaceted approach towards transitions as per the contemporary debate opens three questions that this paper aims to answer: What are the prominent work-to-work transitions for people in different labour market contexts within LMIC? At what stage during their working lives are they happening (e.g., what are the crucial stages for transitions)?

Which implications do these transitions have with regard to the movement towards decent work?

We find that both countries exhibit important mobility patterns across and within age cohorts. Across cohorts, both countries appear to be experiencing a shift in employment status, whereby younger cohorts are increasingly absorbing employee jobs, which also appear to be of better quality (formal and performing higher-skilled occupations). However, in Indonesia, this shift is more diffused than in the case of South Africa, because it has been occurring over a longer time frame. For South Africa, the transitions have to be evaluated against the backdrop of high unemployment, which is particularly pronounced for younger age cohorts. Focusing on the transitions individuals experience during their working lives, our analysis points to the presence of considerable working mobility in South Africa during the study period, notwithstanding the large literature on rigidities in the South African labour market, but in line with findings from other longitudinal studies (Banerjee et al., 2008; Cichello et al., 2014; Essers, 2016). In comparison, the incidence of these transitions is lower in Indonesia within cohorts, but transitions have increased drastically over time and are more prominent now. We find that most transitions between employment statuses happen, naturally, at the very beginning of the individuals' careers in both countries.

In South Africa, transitions between employment statuses, however, are the least prevalent type of transition. There is much more mobility between formal and informal work than there is between employment statuses in the country. Most of these transitions are out of informality and towards formal jobs, and this type of mobility, though more prevalent at the beginning of people's careers, remains high at other stages of people's working lives. In contrast, in Indonesia, where a much higher incidence of informality characterizes the labour market, the rate of transitions is lower compared to those in South Africa for all cohorts. This reflects the stickiness of informality in the country. Despite the low mobility between formal and informal work in Indonesia, most of the transitions that occur are out of informality. Meanwhile, transitions between employment statuses are the most prevalent type of transition in Indonesia (more people transition between employment statuses than between occupations or the formality/ informality of work), where most people shift from their own account worker to employee status, followed closely by transitions across sectors.

We also observe relatively important mobility between sectors and occupations in both South Africa and Indonesia. In South Africa, shifts between the skill level of occupations are the most prevalent type of transition, where most transitions occur from lower to higher skill-level occupations among individuals in the younger cohorts. Meanwhile, individuals in older cohorts (but also as younger cohorts get older) start transitioning back from higher to lower skill-level occupations. Shifts between economic sectors are less prevalent in the country, but we do observe some mobility from industry to services and vice versa. In Indonesia, while there is mobility between occupations' skill levels, people shift occupations much less than they shift economic sectors and employment statuses. Moreover, unlike in South Africa, barely half of the transitions between occupations' skill levels occur from lower to higher skill-level occupations. In terms of shifts between economic sectors, most transitions are from industry to services, but other transitions are also relevant, especially those from services to agriculture, from agriculture to services and from services to industry.

Lastly, when assessing the drivers of individuals' transitions from wave to wave through a fixed effects model with covariates, we confirm that younger individuals transition more than older individuals in both countries. Also, we find that transitions have a nonlinear relationship with age, which displays an inverse-U shape, where people tend to decrease their transition rate during prime age. Other than younger age, we find that precarious forms of employment are persistent. In particular, individuals who start their careers at the bottom of the transition ladder (i.e., in informal work, the agriculture sector or a low-skill occupation) are less likely to transition out of this situation. Finally, we unveil suggestive evidence that computer

skills and socioemotional skills play a role in encouraging certain types of transitions in South Africa and Indonesia, respectively.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Section 1 briefly outlines the development patterns of the two countries during the last two decades and describes the nature of their overall labour markets. This section provides the context for our study of work-to-work transitions. Section 2 describes the research methods and data used in the paper. The analysis of work-to-work transitioned over time and what the crucial stages of transition are. Section 4 takes this analysis one step further. Using the panels of IFLS and NIDS, which allow us to follow individuals for a period of around 20 and 10 years, respectively, we assess how individuals within a given cohort experience different work mobility patterns. This allows us to identify the frequency and direction of transitions in each age cohort, as well as the permanency of transitions literature. Then Section 5 assesses whether different switching behaviour of workers across age cohorts may reflect differences in worker characteristics other than age (e.g., education, skills, etc.) and identifies these drivers. Finally, Section 6 discusses the results and concludes the study.

I Background: Growth and development patterns in Indonesia and South Africa

Indonesia and South Africa make interesting cases for the analysis of work-to-work transitions, especially from a comparative perspective. Both countries face a scarcity of decent jobs, due to slow job creation and segmentation of the labour market between workers who can access high-skilled jobs, usually of better conditions, and workers who cannot. Mismatches between labour supply and demand are also profound in both countries, mainly due to shortages of skilled labour. The reasons for these common challenges, however, differ between both countries. The diverse nature of their labour markets brought about by their distinct economic and societal transformations, are thus particularly informative to understand the mechanisms and drivers of work-to-work transitions.

In Indonesia, the labour market is characterized by slow job growth, high levels of labour underutilization and high levels of informal employment (Allen, 2016). Recent research indicates that there are low transition rates towards permanent work. In particular, there is a lack of mobility from self-employment (which in the country is largely characterized by inadequate working conditions, such as lack of benefits and protection) to permanent forms of employment (Naidoo et al., 2015). South Africa's labour market is characterized by high rates of unemployment and low rates of underemployment and informal employment, relative to other countries at similar income levels (Fox et al., 2013; Kingdon and Knight, 2004).⁵ Meanwhile, the formal sector suffers from labour demand and supply mismatches, mainly driven by a severe skills shortage, a product of the sluggish transformation of the education system. The country has experienced a steep increase in demand for high-skilled workers associated with the services-led structural transformation of the last two decades (Bhorat et al., 2020b). To illustrate these patterns in more detail, Table 1 and 2 compare key labour market indicators for the two countries between 1995 and 2019.

Both South Africa's and Indonesia's labour force participation rates (LFPR) have remained relatively stable during the last two and a half decades, with Indonesia displaying a higher participation rate (i.e., in 2019, South Africa's LFPR was 56.1 percent, while Indonesia's was 68.0 percent). The large gender gap in South Africa's LFPR has been narrowing over time, as the male LFPR has been decreasing while that for women has been increasing (Table 2). Indonesia has also seen a higher LFPR for women over time, and the country displays a higher LFPR for women compared to South Africa. The level of unemployment, however, is remarkably different between the two countries. The post-apartheid South African labour market is characterized by a very high unemployment rate, where strong gender inequalities come to the fore (more than a 10 percentage point difference in 1995) (Banerjee et al., 2008). While gender differences have been declining, women remain more likely to be unemployed (30.5 percent compared to 26.8 percent for men in 2019, see Table 2). Meanwhile, Indonesia's unemployment rate is low, at 3.6 percent in 2019 compared to South Africa (28.5 percent), despite an increase following the 2005 and 2006 natural disasters.

In Indonesia, the higher level of LFPR and lower unemployment is absorbed by a higher level of informal employment. Indeed, the informal sector is large in Indonesia – 80.4 percent of individuals were employed informally in 2019, compared to 34.7 percent in South Africa⁶ – and it acts as a secondary option for individuals who cannot obtain formal sector jobs (Comola and Mello, 2011). As such, efforts to foster transitions to decent work can be hindered by the dualistic labour market structure of the country (e.g., changes in minimum wage legislation in 2001, ibid). In stark contrast, South Africa is considered a regional and international outlier, having a small informal sector, relative to its middle-income counterparts (Kingdon and Knight, 2007). Barriers to entry to the informal sector (e.g., licensing and restrictive by-laws; poor access

⁵ In 2019, informal employment was estimated at 34% in South Africa, while elsewhere in Sub-Saharan Africa informality is essentially the norm. In contrast, unemployment was estimated at 29%, which is around 20 percentage points higher than the unemployment rate in Sub-Saharan Africa (ILO modelled estimates).

⁶ We use in this section the definition of informality employed by ILO statistical guidelines (ILO, 2003), in line with ILO Recommendation 204 on the Transition from the Informal to the Formal Economy (ILO, 2015)

to capital, credit, and land; crime; and high transport costs) – partially due to legacies from apartheid – are named as possible reasons why the informal sector does not act as a cushion for the lack of jobs (Essers, 2016; Kingdon and Knight, 2007). Another explanation is that informality is hidden by an outburst of "casualized/informalized" arrangements in the formal sector, whereby work is outsourced to labour brokers and subcontractors (Zizzamia, 2020) – close to 14 percent of total employment growth between 1995 and 2016 was outsourced and subcontracted (Bhorat et al., 2016). Women and youth make up the larger share of individuals with informal employment in both countries (Table A.1 of the appendix).

			South	Africa					Indo	nocia		
Indicators	' 95	' 00	'05	'10	'15	'19	' 95	' 00	'05	'10	'15	'19
Labour Force Status (%)												
Employed	39.3	38.8	39.1	39.5	41.5	40.1	63.4	63.1	58.8	63.4	63.5	65.5
Unemployed	16.8	16.6	16.1	13.0	13.9	16.0	3.1	4.1	5.1	3.8	3.0	2.5
Outside labour force	43.9	44.6	44.8	47.5	44.6	43.9	33.5	32.8	36.1	32.8	33.5	32.0
Labour force participation rate	56.1	55.4	55.2	52.5	55.4	56.1	66.5	67.2	63.9	67.2	66.5	68.0
Unemployment rate	29.9	29.9	29.1	24.7	25.1	28.5	4.6	6.1	8.0	5.6	4.5	3.6
Informal employment rate*	-	-	-	34.1	33.9	34.7	-	-	-	-	84.3	80.4
Status in employment (%)												
Employees	82.9	81.7	80.8	84.4	85.4	83.7	33.0	32.8	38.2	39.8	49.0	48.2
Employers	6.9	7.6	7.8	5.6	5.2	5.7	1.4	2.3	3.0	2.9	3.5	3.5
Own-account workers	8.6	9.3	10.8	9.4	8.9	10.1	47.7	44.8	40.8	39.5	33.2	35.1
Contributing family workers	1.5	1.5	0.6	0.9	0.6	0.6	17.9	20.1	18.0	17.8	14.3	13.1
Sector employment (%)												
Agriculture	11.1	9.9	7.0	4.8	5.6	5.3	44.0	45.3	44.0	39.1	33.0	28.5
Industry	27.9	27.2	26.2	24.4	23.8	22.3	18.4	17.4	18.8	18.7	22.0	22.4
Services	60.9	62.8	66.7	70.8	70.6	72.4	37.6	37.3	37.2	42.2	44.9	49.1
Occupations ⁺ (%)												
Skill level 1 (low)	-	24.2	23.8	28.5	30.1	29.1	31.3	-	17.5	14.6	17.7	17.8
Skill level 2 (medium)	-	52.5	52.0	46.5	47.3	47.3	61.4	-	74.5	76.8	71.9	70.1
Skill level 3 and 4 (high)	-	21.6	23.8	24.8	22.5	23.4	5.7	-	7.6	8.1	9.8	11.6

▶ Table 1: Key labour market indicators for South Africa and Indonesia, 1995–2019

Notes: Categories do not necessarily sum to 100 as the share of 'not classified' is omitted. All classifications follow ILOSTAT definitions. Blanks indicate that no data is available. For the skill level of occupations, please see footnote 7. +Occupation data for Indonesia is only available in 1994 and then from 2007 onwards (the latest year available is 2019), in South Africa, the earliest data is available in 2000. *Informality data for South Africa corresponds to the years 2010, 2016 and 2019; for Indonesia to 2016 and 2019. Informality estimates from ILOSTAT were calculated using each country's labour force survey. Source: ILOSTAT explorer.

			South	Africa	l.				Indo	nesia		
		Male Fen			Female	ale Male				Female		
Indicators	'95	ʻ15	'19	' 95	'1 5	'19	' 95	'1 5	'19	'95	'15	'19
Labour Force Status (%)												
Employed	51.8	48.0	46.1	27.5	35.2	34.5	79.6	78.6	79.1	47.4	48.4	52.0
Unemployed	18.0	14.5	16.8	15.6	13.4	15.1	3.4	3.8	3.1	2.8	2.2	1.8
Outside labour force	30.2	37.5	37.1	56.9	51.4	50.4	17.0	17.6	17.8	49.8	49.4	46.2
Labour force participation rate	69.8	62.5	62.9	43.1	48.6	49.6	83.0	82.4	82.2	50.2	50.6	53.8
Unemployment rate	25.8	23.2	26.8	36.1	27.5	30.5	3.4	4.6	3.8	4.7	4.4	3.4
Informal employment rate*		32.4	33.3	-	35.8	36.4		83.4	79.4	-	85.8	81.8
Status in Employment (%)												
Employees	85.4	83.5	81.3	78.4	87.9	86.7	37.4	53.6	53.0	29.4	41.6	41.0
Employers	7.6	7.4	8.0	5.8	2.2	2.7	2.2	4.6	4.5	0.9	1.8	1.9
Own account workers	5.9	8.8	10.4	13.6	9.0	9.7	51.6	36.1	36.6	31.0	28.4	32.9
Contributing family workers	1.1	0.4	0.3	2.2	0.8	0.9	8.8	5.8	5.9	38.7	28.2	24.2
Sector (%)												
Agriculture	12.1	6.7	6.5	9.4	4.2	3.8	44.0	33.3	29.9	43.9	32.6	36.4
Industry	34.7	33.1	30.4	15.9	11.7	12.0	19.9	25.9	26.1	16.0	15.8	16.7
Services	53.2	60.2	63.1	74.6	84.0	84.2	36.1	40.8	44.0	40.1	51.6	57.0
Occupation ⁺ (%)												
Skill level 1 (low)	18.8	25.3	24.0	32.2	36.2	35.5	26.4	19.8	19.9	39.2	14.3	14.8
Skill level 2 (medium)	58.5	52.6	52.4	43.6	40.4	40.9	65.8	70.6	68.8	54.4	74.0	72.1
Skill level 3 and 4 (high)	20.3	21.8	23.3	23.7	23.3	23.6	5.8	8.8	10.7	5.5	11.5	13.1

> Table 2: Key labour market indicators for South Africa and Indonesia by sex, 1995, 2015 and 2019

Notes: Categories do not necessarily sum to 100 as the share of 'not classified' is omitted. All classifications follow ILOSTAT definitions. Blanks indicate that no data is available. For the skill level of occupations, please see footnote 7. +Occupation data for Indonesia is only available in 1994 and then from 2007 onwards (the latest year available is 2019), in South Africa, the earliest data is available in 2000. *Informality data for South Africa corresponds to the years 2010, 2016 and 2019; for Indonesia to 2016 and 2019. Informality estimates from ILOSTAT were calculated using each country's labour force survey. Source: ILOSTAT explorer.

The two countries also portray considerably different employment structures, with important implications for the possible work-to-work transitions as will be observed in section 3. In South Africa, most of the employed individuals are waged employees (83.7 percent in 2019), while self-employment (defined in the country by a combination of own-account workers and employers) plays a less important role (10.1 and 5.7 percent, respectively). In Indonesia, the share of waged employees has been rising over the past few years but is still considerably lower (48.2 percent in 2019). Meanwhile, the share of own-account workers remains relatively high, though declining over time (35.1 percent). In South Africa, the rise of the share of employees seems to largely be driven by women, while in Indonesia, the rise of this share is being driven mainly by youth and prime-aged workers (as the share of both male and female employees have increased in the country; see Table 2 and Table A.1 of the Appendix). Compared to South Africa, contributing family workers play a much stronger role in the Indonesian labour market, albeit declining. It is important to note that the shares of own-account workers and contributing family workers have markedly decreased in the 24 years to 2019 (by about 13 and 5 percentage points, respectively), giving way to a larger share of waged employees. Gender differences continue to exist, however, with the share of women among contributing family workers reaching almost five times higher than that of males in the same year.

In terms of the sectoral composition of employment, the share of employment in agriculture has been declining for both countries over the past two decades. Nevertheless, the agricultural sector still employed 28.5 percent of the workforce in Indonesia in 2019, while in South Africa, it employed only 5.3 percent. The industrial sector employed similar shares of workers in South Africa and Indonesia in the same year (22.3 and 22.4 percent, respectively). However, in Indonesia, the industrial sector has expanded. In particular, after the earthquake in 2006, there was a shift from employment in the (low-wage) agricultural sector towards the construction sector, due to the increase in the demand for workers in sectors, which produced non-tradable goods following the environmental disaster (Kirchberger, 2017). Meanwhile, South Africa has been undergoing a long-term deindustrialization for the past two decades (Bhorat et al., 2020c; Rodrik, 2008). While the industrial sector employed 27.9 percent of the workers in 1995, this share decreased to 22.3 in 2019. The declining share of industrial employment has been particularly pronounced for women. Meanwhile, the services sector has expanded considerably, employing 72.4 percent of workers in 2019, compared to 60.9 percent in 1995. Here, the increase is again particularly pronounced among women: in 2019, 84.2 percent of working women were employed in the service sector. Employment in the services sector has also increased in Indonesia, but at its peak in 2019, it stood at only 49 percent.

The expansion of the services sector and the collapse of the manufacturing industry during the 2000s have brought about a proliferation of low-paid jobs in South Africa (Bhorat et al., 2020a). In fact, some authors argue that to the extent that job creation for the most vulnerable has occurred, it has mostly consisted of precarious forms of employment in low-skill service and retail sectors. These patterns point to important work-to-work transitions to consider within both countries, which are looked at in the following sections.

Meanwhile, the shares of individuals employed in occupations with different skill levels⁷ are an interesting prior.

Following the global financial crisis of 2008, South Africa experienced a simultaneous decrease in the share of employment in medium-skilled occupations and an increase in that of low-skilled occupations. While the share of men in low-skilled occupations increased considerably over the timespan considered (from 18.8 percent in 2000 to 24 percent in 2019), women remain much more likely to be employed in low-skilled occupations (35.5 percent in 2019). Employment in high-skilled occupations gradually increased but has recently been falling again (23.4 percent in 2019). The South African labour market is thus segmented between workers who can access high-skilled jobs and workers who cannot, as well as groups that are able to access jobs of good quality and groups that are not (Essers, 2016). Though the South African labour market also presents some mobility, it is submerged by a deep wage polarization and one of the highest levels of income inequality in the world (Bhorat et al., 2020b). Understanding what drives transitions to better jobs is thus of significant importance in South Africa.

By contrast, likely due to rapid industrialization, Indonesia has seen a large increase in the share of individuals in medium- and high-skilled occupations from 1994 to 2019. Meanwhile, the share of workers in lowskilled occupations has decreased. This has mainly been driven by a fall in the share of women (by close to 25 percentage points) working in low-skilled occupations, although the share of men has also fallen (by close to 7 percentage points). Throughout the period, more and more women have moved to medium-skilled occupations and, to a lesser extent, to high-skilled occupations. On the demand side, Indonesia's information technology sector has developed rapidly since the 2000s, changing the skills demanded by the labour market (Tentua and Winarko, 2020). However, some authors sustain that the country has seen important increases in education levels, which are not necessarily in line with the skills needs of the economy (Manning and Pratomo, 2018). These major economic and societal transformations have led to various mismatches in the labour market, such as shortages of skilled labour, particularly of semi-skilled blue-collar workers, and skill mismatches, notably concerning IT skills. Therefore, the case of Indonesia is particularly informative to understand how major transformations affect transitions, as well as the role of skills in equipping individuals with the tools to respond effectively to these transformations.

The skill level of occupations "is defined as a function of the complexity and range of tasks and duties to be performed in an occupation" (ILO, 2012). Skill level 1 (low-skilled occupations) contains 'elementary occupations', skill level 2 (medium-skilled occupations) encompasses 'plant and machine operators, and assemblers', 'craft and related trades workers', 'skilled agricultural, forestry and fishery workers', 'service and sales workers' and 'clerical support workers'. Finally, skill level 3 and 4 (high skilled occupations) encompass 'technicians and associate professionals', 'professionals' and 'managers' (ILO, 2012).

2 Methodology and data

2.1 Data

For the analysis of work-to-work transitions in Indonesia, we use data from the five waves of the Indonesian Family Life Survey (IFLS). The IFLS is a large-scale socio-economic longitudinal survey, spanning about twenty years. The sample represents around 83 percent of the Indonesian population living in 13 of the 27 provinces (Mani et al., 2018). The first wave (IFLS1) started in 1993, interviewing 7,224 households and collecting individual- level data for more than 22,000 individuals. Wave 2 was then carried out in 1997/98; wave 3 in 2000; wave 4 in 2007/08, and wave 5 in 2014/15. The IFLS collects extensive information at the individual, household, and community levels, on demographics, education, health, employment, household expenditures, migration, etc.

For the analysis of South Africa, we use the five waves of the publicly available section of the National Income Dynamics Study (NIDS) database. This longitudinal survey began in 2008 with a nationally representative sample of over 28,000 individuals living in 7,300 households across the country.⁸ The survey follows these same household members every two years. Wave 1 was conducted in 2008, wave 2 in 2010/11, wave 3 in 2012, wave 4 in 2014/15 and wave 5 in 2017. The NIDS examines the livelihoods of individuals and households over time. Themes include changes in poverty and well-being; household composition and structure; fertility and mortality; migration; labour market participation and economic activity; human capital formation, health and education; vulnerability and social capital.

There are two caveats to take into account. First, long term panel data underestimates the number of transitions people experience in between waves. This situation is more pronounced for Indonesia as the longer the time elapsed between waves, the larger the unobserved working mobility. This time-aggregation bias is common when assessing labour market flows where time intervals are discrete (Samaniego and Viegelahn, 2021). While it is unavoidable in our case, we do not expect this to bias our results in a particular direction, such that we believe our findings hold but are an underestimation of the true trends.

Second, sample attrition is often a concern. If non-attritors and attritors systematically differ in the outcome variables of interest and attrition is found to be non-random, a solution is to create inverse probability weights which adjust for sample attrition (Fitzgerald et al., 1998; Wooldridge, 2010). Fortunately, in the case of South Africa, NIDS has released panel weights along with the data, which are intended to correct for bias resulting from non-random attrition between wave 1 and subsequent waves (Branson and Wittenberg, 2019). The IFLS similarly has cross-sectional and panel weights, designed to correct attrition and sampling design. The panel weights adjust the original survey design to ensure that the weighted distribution of households who remain in the sample (non-attritors) is comparable to the cross-sectional distribution of households in the first wave. The panel weights in the IFLS, though, are only included for individuals who are present in all five waves. In Appendix B we provide detailed attrition analyses and show that applying panel weights produces attrition test results that generally indicate that attrition is random for the NIDS while they decrease the bias for the IFLS. Consequently, we apply these weights in our analysis.

2.2 Research methods

In the following sections, we empirically identify the shape and prominence of work-to-work transitions across and within birth cohorts, allowing us to determine their crucial stages (e.g., whether such transitions happen more at specific ages over the life course). Ultimately, the objective is to use the empirical results

⁸ Selective attrition became an issue in wave 5 (particularly amongst affluent respondents). A top-up sample, alongside post-stratification weights, was used to resolve the representativeness issue.

to systematically characterize work-to-work transitions within a framework and identify what drives these transitions and their implications regarding movements to decent work. To achieve this, we focus on two aspects of work-to-work transitions: first, we consider movements between the employment of different characteristics, such as transitions between different employment statuses and changes between sectors and occupations, focusing on age. Second, we assess transitions by considering additional potential drivers, such as skills.

We start our analysis by assessing transitions across age cohorts. Through this analysis, we want to observe how workers of different age cohorts differ in their work mobility by exploiting the large and representative cross-sectional data for both countries, which allows us to follow cohorts over time. Cohorts are based on respondent age in 2007 for Indonesia (wave 4 of the survey) and in 2008 for South Africa (wave 1 of the survey), so we can observe comparable cohorts between the two countries. This first part of the analysis (Section 2) illustrates differences in the composition of employment status, as well as in the economic sector, informality and occupational skill levels of the jobs held by different cohorts. This allows us to determine whether differences arise from across or within-cohort variations. Additionally, workers within a given cohort may experience different transitions. In Section 3, we exploit the individual-level panels available in our data for Indonesia and South Africa to illustrate these different transitions and study how workers actually sort between these different types of employment. This also allows us to establish the crucial stages of transitions, their frequency, and the permanency of those transitions.

After assessing transitions across and within birth cohorts, we assess the factors driving the transitions observed in sections 4 and 5. Different switching behaviour of workers across age cohorts may reflect differences in worker characteristics other than age, such as education, skills, etc., as well as the interaction of these factors with the characteristics of the country's labour market. Section 5 empirically assesses these questions. A series of fixed effect models identify individual and cohort factors that drive labour market transitions and characterize individuals who do not transition between sectors, occupations, nature of employment or status in employment.

3 Differences in labour market characteristics across and within birth cohorts

What is the role of age cohorts in the changing composition of labour market characteristics over time in South Africa and Indonesia?

In South Africa, young workers starting their working lives between 2008 and 2017 (aged 15–24 in 2008, then 24–33 in 2017) are more likely to work as employees (and less likely to be self-employed), than any other cohort, whether prime age (25–54 in 2008) or the older, exiting cohort (55–64 in 2008). Results are displayed in figure 1 and in table C.1 of the appendix. Within the two younger cohorts, around 90 percent of workers were employees in 2017, compared to somewhere between 84 and 59 percent for the older cohorts in the same year.

If we compare cohorts when they have the same age using the different waves (e.g. the youth cohort aged 24–33 years in 2017 with the prime 1 cohort aged 25–34 years in 2008), we can observe that the younger the cohort, the higher the share in the employee status category relative to the following age cohort (see grey arrows in figure 1). Likewise, the younger the cohort, the lower the share in the self-employment status category, relative to the following age cohort (table C.1 of the appendix). This supports the idea of a shift in employment status across cohorts, whereby younger cohorts are increasingly absorbing employee jobs.



▶ Figure 1: Share of workers with an employee status or formal working status in South Africa, by age cohort

Notes: The figure exhibits the evolution within each cohort in the share of workers who were employees or had a formal working status between 2007 (W4) and 2014 (W5). Age cohorts were fixed in 2007 (weights applied), which means that workers aged 15 to 24 in wave 4 (2007) were 22 to 31 in wave 5 (2014), and so on and so forth for the other cohorts. The grey arrows compare people from different cohorts when they had the same age. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

While our interest is in work-to-work transitions in this paper, we should not forget that the South African labour market is characterized by high unemployment. Figure 2 displays the labour force status by age cohorts in South Africa for the first survey wave in 2008. While there is an important increase (of over 33 percentage points) in the share of people in the youth cohort who were in employment between 2008 (when they were 15 to 24 years old) and 2017 (when they were 24 to 33 years old), the share of people in the same cohort who became unemployed also increased. As such, it seems important to take unemployment into account in the case of South Africa, even if the bulk of the analysis is on work-to-work transitions.



Figure 2: Share of workers by labour force status in South Africa, by age cohort

Notes: The figure exhibits the evolution of each cohort in their status in the labour market (employed, unemployed or inactive, which means outside the labour force) between 2007 (W1) and 2017 (W5). Age cohorts are fixed in 2008 (panel weights applied), which means that workers aged 15 to 24 in wave 1 (2008) were 24 to 33 in wave 5 (2017), and so on and so forth for the other cohorts. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

The higher shares of employee status amongst younger cohorts are associated with a large within-cohort decrease of employment in agriculture, a smaller but still significant decrease of employment in industry, compounded by a steep within-cohort increase of employment in services (table C.1 of the Appendix). These trends hold for other age cohorts. All cohorts experienced large increases in employment in services across time, and most cohorts (except those in the older age group) experienced decreases in the share of employment in agriculture. Interestingly, only the youth and older cohorts showed decreases in employment in industry, while the prime age cohorts maintained their shares relatively unchanged.

What does the switch of younger cohorts towards employee jobs and towards the services sector mean in terms of work quality? In terms of the formality of jobs, the first proxy of working conditions, figure 1 illustrates that younger cohorts experienced greater within-cohort job formalization over the decade analysed than older cohorts. Still, most cohorts (but the eldest) benefited from job formalization. This formalization of the work carried out by younger cohorts can be observed relative to older cohorts in 2017, but also when comparing cohorts over time (i.e., different cohorts when they had the same age as shown by the grey arrows in the figure).

The skill level of occupations supports the idea of a shift of younger cohorts towards not only different jobs but potentially better ones. There is a general increase in the skill level of occupations within cohorts between 2008 and 2017. Figure 3 highlights that each birth cohort has seen a decrease in their share of low-skilled occupations, offset by increases in medium- but mostly high-skilled occupations. This is surprising given findings from Section 2, which point to an overall increase in the share of workers in low-skilled occupations. The answer is in the distribution of these jobs across cohorts. Across-cohort employment is concentrated among medium-skilled occupations. There is a palpable rise in the share of high-skilled occupations (encompassing technicians, professionals, and managers), and a fall in the share of low-skilled occupations

(containing elementary occupations) for the two youngest and the eldest cohorts. Findings from Bhorat et al. (2020a) note that the service-led structural transformation has resulted in a simultaneous proliferation of low-skilled occupations (cleaning, security services) and high-skilled occupations in business, finance and communication services, further deepening inequality in South Africa. Our cross-cohort findings imply then that prime-age workers are disproportionately occupying these low-skilled occupations, while the two youngest and the eldest cohorts are securing jobs in higher-skilled occupations.

It is noteworthy that the younger cohorts have higher comparative shares of medium- skilled occupations and growing shares of high-skilled occupations despite their new career paths. At a similar age, younger cohorts have higher shares of jobs in higher-skilled occupations than older cohorts. For example, 22 percent of workers aged 24–33 years in 2017 are employed in high-skilled occupations, compared to 16 percent of workers of the same age (25–34 years) in 2008 (the previous cohort), and so on and so forth.



Figure 3: Share of workers in low-, medium-, and high-skill level occupations in South Africa, by age cohort

Notes: The figure exhibits the evolution of each cohort in their share of workers in each of the three skill levels of occupations (low, medium, and high) between 2007 (W1) and 2017 (W5). Age cohorts are fixed in 2008 (panel weights applied), which means that workers aged 15 to 24 in wave 1 (2008) were 24 to 33 in wave 5 (2017), and so on and so forth for the other cohorts.

Source: authors elaboration based on NIDS.

Indonesia also appears to be experiencing a shift in employment status across cohorts, whereby younger cohorts are increasingly absorbing employee jobs. However, this shift is more diffused than in the case of South Africa, possibly because it has been occurring over a longer time frame. Young workers that start their careers somewhere between 2007 and 2014 (aged 15–24 in 2007, then 22–31 in 2014) have higher employee shares and lower own-account worker shares than any other cohort (figure 4; and table C.2 in the Appendix). In fact, the younger the cohort the higher the employee share and the lower the own-account worker share. However, the concentration of workers within the younger cohorts in these employment statuses is less pronounced than in South Africa, with an employee share of 67 percent and an own-account worker share of 23 percent for the youngest cohort. Moreover, unlike what was observed in South Africa, the longer time horizon of the IFLS allows us to illustrate that the shift in employment status across cohorts had already taken place by 2007. This can be observed by the small changes in the employment status shares between waves 4 and 5 and the larger changes between waves 1 and 4 (table C.2 of the Appendix).



Figure 4: Share of workers with an employee and formal working status in Indonesia, by age cohort

Notes: The figure exhibits the evolution of each cohort in the share of workers who were employees or had a formal working status between 2007 (W4) and 2014 (W5). Age cohorts were fixed in 2007 (weights applied), which means that workers aged 15 to 24 in wave 4 (2007) were 22 to 31 in wave 5 (2014), and so on and so forth for the other cohorts. The grey arrows compare people from different cohorts when they had the same age. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

The higher shares of employee jobs amongst younger cohorts are associated with lower and decreasing shares in agriculture, considerably higher shares in industry and somewhat higher and increasing shares in services, relative to the other cohorts. The larger, albeit stagnant, share of jobs held by younger cohorts in the industrial sector is one difference worth noting with regard to the South African transition story. Another difference is the fact that, while decreasing, the share of agricultural jobs held by the younger cohorts in 2014 remained significant (18 percent for the youngest cohort and 23 percent for the young prime age cohort aged 25-34 in 2007 were employed in agricultural jobs in 2014).

What does the switch of younger cohorts towards employee jobs in the industry and services sectors mean in terms of work quality? As in South Africa, younger cohorts in Indonesia benefited from higher shares of formal jobs than other cohorts. They also experienced greater increases in within-cohort job formalization over time – particularly the youngest birth cohort. This formalization can be observed relative to older cohorts in 2014, but also when comparing cohorts when they had the same age during different waves (see the grey arrows in figure 4). In spite of this improvement, the shares of job formality remain low in Indonesia relative to South Africa, in line with the discussion of Section 2. Rothenberg et al. (2016) find that high informality in Indonesia stems both from barriers to formalization (i.e., uncertain benefits coupled with high regulatory costs), and from the prevalence of a dual economy whereby informal sector firms cater to a different consumer, which possibly does not compete with the formal sector.

The relative formalization of jobs and the change in the sectoral composition towards industry and services sectors have not been accompanied by changes in the skill levels of occupations (figure 5). Within cohorts, the composition of occupations has remained mostly unchanged between 2007 and 2014, with a large concentration of medium-skilled occupations. In fact, for the older cohorts that were already in the labour market since 1993 (wave 1), the composition of occupations has remained somewhat constant since then, though we do observe a decrease in the share of older workers in high-skilled occupations by 2014. Compared to other cohorts, younger cohorts have slightly higher shares of low-skilled occupations, and slightly lower (and decreasing) shares of medium-skilled occupations, compounded by noticeable higher (and increasing) shares of high-skilled occupations. This is in line with the larger across-cohort increase in job formalization for this younger cohort. In fact, the shares of high-skilled occupations show some acrossand within-cohort mobility. In particular, the youth cohort illustrates a relatively important within-cohort increase in the share of high-skilled occupations, while the older cohort shows a decrease in the share of these occupations. Nevertheless, the lassitude of these trends is in line with the findings that there are shortages of skilled labour, particularly with regards to IT skills that are bearing on the Indonesian labour market.



▶ Figure 5: Share of workers in low-, medium-, and high-skill level occupations in Indonesia, by age cohort

Notes: The figure exhibits the evolution of each cohort in their share of workers in each of the three skill levels of occupations (low, medium, and high) between 2007 (W4) and 2014 (W5). Age cohorts fixed in 2007 (weights applied), which means that workers aged 15 to 24 in wave 4 (2007) were 22 to 31 in wave 5 (2014), and so on and so forth for the other cohorts. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

4 Workers' sorting between different types of transitions: within cohort analysis

Section 3 highlights the differences in employment status across and within birth cohorts in South Africa and Indonesia and how these shares have evolved over time. It also shows the differences in economic sectors, formalization and the skill levels of occupations of jobs held by the various cohorts over time. Section 4 takes the analysis one step further. Using the panels of IFLS and NIDS, we follow individuals for a period of around 20 and 10 years, in Indonesia and South Africa, respectively. We illustrate how workers within a given age cohort transition between different forms of employment, e.g., how they sort between employment statuses, economic sectors and occupations, and how they transition between formal and informal jobs. This allows us to identify the frequency of transitions in each age cohort, as well as their direction. It also allows us to study the crucial stages of transitioning during individuals' working lives and assess the permanency of the transitions over a longer time horizon than is usually studied in the transitions' literature.

In South Africa, around 15 percent of individuals (i.e., overall change between waves 1 and 4) have transitioned across employment statuses (i.e., employee, self-employed and contributing family worker) between each panel wave during the period of analysis (2008 to 2017, table 3⁹). Most transitions between employment statuses happened, naturally, at the very beginning of the individuals' careers (close to 16 percent of individuals transition during their first years in the labour market, i.e., when they are aged 15 to 24 years figure 6). A fair share of transitions also takes place at the upper tier of an individual's career, i.e., in the few years following ages 45–54. Most of these transitions correspond to workers from all cohorts moving from self-employment to employee status. At the very beginning of their career, youth also move from contributing family workers to employee status. While South Africa shows some differences in mobility between employment statuses across cohorts, within cohort mobility is also important during the period of analysis. This indicates the presence of considerable working mobility in South Africa during the study period, notwithstanding the large literature on rigidities in the South African labour market (see Section 1) but in line with findings from other longitudinal studies (Banerjee et al. (2008); Essers (2016)). In line with the literature, we find evidence for considerable movements in and out of employment, as well as outside the labour market (table D.1 in the Appendix). The youngest age cohort experience, on average, the most transitions in their labour force status (between employment, unemployment and inactivity), while this mobility tends to decrease with age.

In Indonesia, the incidence of transitions between the various forms of employment is higher when comparing similar time periods to the South African sample. During the entire period (1997/98 to 2014), on average, around 20 percent of individuals have transitioned between employment statuses (figure 7). This figure goes up to over 28 percent, when we use a comparable period (2007 to 2014, see table 3). Examining overall transitions within cohorts between the status of employment, the highest shares are stemming from transitions from own account worker to employee status, but the variation across age cohorts is relatively high (e.g., a large share of youth transition from contributing family worker to employee status, followed by contributing family worker to own account worker). As in South Africa, most transitions in Indonesia occur at the beginning of individuals' careers, and we observe mobility across and within cohorts.

Table 3 shows work-to-work transitions (irrespective of their direction) choosing comparable time periods—i.e., w1 to w4 for South Africa (2008–2014) and w4 to w5 for Indonesia (2007–2014).

	Status in e	employment	Nature: i	nformality	Sector (a	aggregate)	Occupation (skill level)	
Cohort age start	South A. W1W4	Indonesia W4W5	South A. W1W4	Indonesia W4W5	South A. W1W4	Indonesia W4W5	South A. W1W4	Indonesia W4W5
	'08/'14	'08/'15	'08/'14	'08/'15	'08/'14	'08/'15	'08/'14	'08/'15
Youth (15-24)	25.64%	35.13%	50.62%	14.63%	41.64%	36.75%	44.45%	20.87%
Prime 1 (25-34)	14.78%	28.05%	27.29%	11.07%	23.93%	31.97%	33.05%	19.75%
Prime 2 (35-44)	9.29%	26.03%	21.49%	6.30%	21.35%	26.24%	26.14%	17.63%
Prime 3 (45-54)	15.51%	27.84%	16.28%	4.38%	19.31%	25.70%	30.88%	13.28%
Older (55-64)	21.70%	30.35%	30.00%	3.95%	19.12%	22.28%	17.13%	12.20%
Overall	15.08%	28.39%	26.42%	7.29%	24.11%	27.92%	31.16%	16.42%

> Table 3: Work-to-work transitions in South Africa and Indonesia, comparable wave lengths

Notes: The table illustrates the share of individuals who have transitioned (irrespective of their direction) between the various status of employment, nature of employment (formality vs. informality), aggregate economic sectors, and in their occupation skill level between the respective survey waves. Survey waves have been chosen to make periods of analysis comparable between Indonesia and South Africa. In Indonesia, comparing wave 4 to wave 5 means assessing the period 2008–2015. In South Africa, comparing wave 1 to wave 4 means studying the period 2008–2014. Panel weights applied. *Source:* authors' calculations based on NIDS and IFLS.

There is much more mobility between formal and informal jobs than there is between employment statuses in South Africa (figure 6). This mobility is again higher at the beginning of individuals' careers (i.e., a lower share of transitions for older cohorts), but mobility remains high as well at other stages of people's working lives. Within cohorts, the number of transitions decreases as individuals age. In terms of direction, most transitions occur from informal to formal employment. This is particularly the case of younger cohorts, while the share is much smaller (generally less than half of those transitioning) for older-age cohorts. In fact, a small share of people in the older cohort starts transitioning towards informality as they get older.

In contrast, in Indonesia, where a much higher incidence of informality characterizes the labour market, the rate of transitions is markedly lower compared to those in South Africa for all cohorts (26.4 percent of individuals switch between formality and informality statuses in South Africa, compared to 7.3 percent in Indonesia, when using comparable time frames—table 3). This reflects the stickiness of informality in the country. Despite the low mobility between formal and informal jobs, most of the transitions that occur are out of informality. As in South Africa, younger cohorts make up the largest share of individuals moving towards formal employment in Indonesia from 2000 to 2007. Still, the majority of transitions for all cohorts, stem from transitions towards formal employment.

Figure 6: Share of individuals who have transitioned between survey waves and direction of these transitions - status of employment and nature of employment, South Africa



Notes: Figure 6 depicts the share of individuals who have transitioned between the various status of employment (figure 6a) and nature of employment (formality vs. informality) between the respective survey waves, irrespective of the transitions' direction. For the nature of employment, the shares of figure 6c provide information on the direction of the transitions from informal to formal work. The total share of transitions in figure 6b equals the respective shares on figure 6c plus the transitions in the opposite direction (formal to informal), which are not reported due to space constraints. Panel weights applied. *Source:* authors calculations based on NIDS and IFLS.

Figure 7: Share of individuals who have transitioned between survey waves and direction of these transitions - status of employment and nature of employment, Indonesia



(b) Nature of employment: total share



Older (55-64) Prime 3 (45-54) Prime 2 (35-44)

Cohort age in W4 (2007/08):

Prime 1 (25-34)

Youth (15-24)

(c) Nature of employment: informal to formal



Notes: Figure 7 depicts the share of individuals who have transitioned between the various status of employment (figure 7a) and nature of employment (formality vs. informality) (panels b and c) between the respective survey waves, irrespective of the transitions' direction. For the nature of employment, the shares in figure 7c provide information on the direction of the transitions from informal to formal work. The total number of transitions in figure 7b equals the respective shares in figure 7c plus the transitions in the opposite direction (formal to informal), which are not reported due to space constraints. *Source:* authors calculations based on IFLS.

We also observe relatively important mobility between sectors and occupations in both South Africa and Indonesia. Again, focusing on the share of workers who transitioned between waves, individuals in the youngest cohort experience the highest mobility at the onset of their career in both countries between sectors (figures 8 and 9) and occupations (figures 10 and 11). In South Africa, the incidence of transitions between sectors decreases both with age across cohorts and as individuals in each of those cohorts become

older (within cohort comparison). As to the direction of these transitions, South Africa displays a low share of workers switching from agriculture to either industry or services, and from industry or services to agriculture. However, there is notably higher mobility from industry to services and vice versa. Indeed, on average, around 7 percent of individuals transition in each direction, which accounts for around 39 to 37 percent of total transitions across sectors—there is no one direction that clearly dominates the other.

Meanwhile, in Indonesia, the average share of people transitioning between sectors is higher than in South Africa (28 percent compared to 24 percent, when using comparable time frames—table 3). Transitions are also more prominent among younger cohorts. Interestingly, within cohorts, there is a systematic increase in the incidence of transitions between sectors during the period 2000 and 2017 (i.e., between waves 3 and 4) for all cohorts. This period coincides with the three most recent and impactful natural disasters suffered by the country (an earthquake and tsunami in 2004, followed by earthquakes in 2005 and 2006), which brought about increased unemployment (ILO, 2005) and a shift of labour from the agricultural to the construction sector (Kirchberger, 2017). The shift from agriculture to industry (that includes construction) between waves 4 and 5 allows us to observe some of this shift, although this transition is by no means the most relevant in Indonesia. Like South Africa, most transitions are from industry to services—on average, around 6.5 percent of individuals experience this shift (figure 8), which accounts for 24 percent of all transitions among sectors. Surprisingly, transitions from services to agriculture are also relevant (close to 18 percent of all sectoral transitions), especially among older cohorts and have remained stable during the 20 years of analysis. They are followed by transitions from agriculture to services and from services to industry, each accounting for around 17 percent of all sectoral transitions. We do observe high variation across age cohorts, though, with youth again having generally higher transition rates across sectors.

Figure 8: Share of individuals who have transitioned across sectors between survey waves and direction of these transitions, South Africa



Notes: Figure 8a depicts the share of individuals who have transitioned between economic sectors, irrespective of their direction, amongst the respective survey waves. Figures 8b, 8c, and 8d provide information on the direction of the transitions. The total number of transitions adds up to the respective shares in 8b, 8c and 8d, plus the transitions in the opposite direction (industry to agriculture; services to industry, and services to agriculture), which are not reported in the table due to space constraints. Panel weights applied. *Source:* authors calculations based on NIDS.

Figure 9: Share of individuals who have transitioned across sectors between survey waves and direction of these transitions, Indonesia



Cohort age in W4 (2007/08): Vouth (15-24) Prime 1 (25-34) Prime 2 (35-44) Prime 3 (45-54) Older (55-64)

Notes: Figure 9a depicts the share of individuals who have transitioned between economic sectors, irrespective of their direction, amongst the respective survey waves. Figures 9b, 9c, and 9d provide information on the direction of the transitions. The total number of transitions add up to the respective shares in 9b, 9c, and 9d, plus the transitions in the opposite direction (industry to agriculture; services to industry, and services to agriculture), which are not reported in the table due to space constraints. *Source:* authors calculations based on IFLS.

Transitions between the skill level of occupations follow a different and less systematic pattern. In South Africa, people shift between occupations' skill levels much more often during their career lives than they shift sectors and employment statuses (figure 10). Again, we find that the share of individuals who transition between occupations' skill levels decreases the older the age cohort, and as each cohort gets older over time. We find that most transitions occur from low- to mid-skill-level occupations and from mid- to high-skill-level occupations. Unsurprisingly, there are only few transitions from low- to high-skill level occupations, and those transitions happen predominantly within the younger age cohorts. Overall, most individuals in all cohorts transitions between occupations' skill level occupations in South Africa—on average, close to 56 percent of all transitions between occupations' skill levels. This share is more pronounced for the youngest cohort (around 65 percent on average), but it's the least pronounced for the cohort prime age 3 (around 51 percent on average). However, as younger cohorts age, they start transitioning from higher to lower skill level occupations. This could indicate that as workers age, there is a tendency of declining upward mobility in terms of skill-level of occupations.

► Figure 10: Share of individuals who have transitioned between occupation's skill levels amongst survey waves and direction of these transitions, South Africa



Notes: Figure 10a depicts the share of individuals who have transitioned between the three skill levels of occupation, irrespective of their direction, amongst the respective survey waves. Figures 10b, 10c, and 10d provide information on the direction of the transitions. The total number of transitions add up to the respective shares in 10b, 10c, and 10d, plus the transitions in the opposite direction (mid-skill to low-skill level; high-skill to mid-skill level, and high-skill to low-skill level; high-skill to mid-skill level, and high-skill to low-skill level, which are not reported in the table due to space constraints. Panel weights applied. For the definition of the skill levels of occupations, please see footnote 7. *Source:* authors calculations based on NIDS.

In Indonesia, while there is mobility between occupations' skill levels, people shift occupations much less than they shift economic sectors and employment statuses. However, we observe mobility with an overall increase in transitions across occupation skill levels over the period of analysis (2000–2017) for all cohorts. Unlike South Africa, most people in the two younger cohorts (on average during the period, 63 and 56 percent of individuals, respectively) experienced upper mobility in terms of the skill level of occupations. The opposite is true for the older three cohorts, where a larger share of people transitioned towards occupations of a lower skill level. Considering those who transitioned from lower to higher skill-level occupations (which account for close to half of all transitions of this type), most transitions occur from low to mid-skill level and from mid- to high-skill level. To understand better whether there is more movement within occupational skill levels than across, we look in more detail at the transitions across specific mid-level occupations (table D.2 of the appendix), after all, the majority of workers (about 83 percent¹⁰) in Indonesia are employed in mid-skill level occupations. Looking at the transitions for the mid-skill level occupations with the highest share of individuals - services and sales workers; skilled agricultural, forestry and fishery workers; and craft and related trades workers (about 78 percent of workers fall under these three categories), we observe that most people transition from skilled agriculture and from craft and related trades, towards services and sales. As transitions across sectors are still more prominent in the Indonesian sample, these transitions between mid-skill level occupations are likely partially representing sectoral changes.

In sum, we find that, in South Africa, shifts between the skill level of occupations are the most prevalent type of transition (over 31 percent of people during the period of analysis—table 3), followed by transitions between formality-informality of jobs (26 percent) and between economic sectors (24 percent). Transitions between employment statuses are much less prevalent, at 15 percent. Meanwhile, in Indonesia, transitions between employment statuses as well as between sectors are the highest (28 percent each, using a

¹⁰ This corresponds to the share of individuals in each one-digit ISCO-08 occupational category in all five survey waves, which are the following: 1-Professional/Technical = 0.7%; 2-Professionals=4.7%; 3-Technicians and Associate Professionals=4%; 5-Service and Sales Workers=30.4%; 6-Skilled Agricultural, Forestry and Fishery Workers=32%; 7-Craft and Related Trades Workers=15.6%; 8-Plant and Machine Operators and Assemblers=2%; 9-Elementary Occupations=7.4%.

comparable period of analysis), and also higher than in South Africa. The share of individuals transitioning between various occupations' skill levels and between formality-informality of jobs is lower than in South Africa, totalling 16 and 7 percent, respectively.

(b) From low-skill to mid-skill level (a) Total share of transitions 3 9% 13.3% 4.8% 3.9% 16.3% 17.6% 5.6% 4.9% 18.1% 12.9% 19.8% 12% 3.2% 5.6% 5.1% 16.7% 1.5% 17.6% 2.9% 11.9% 2 3% 20.9% 14% 4 99 2.6% 8.6% 2.6% W1 => W2 W2 => W3 W3 => W4 W4 => W5 W1 => W2 W2 => W3 W3 => W4 W4 => W5 (c) From low-skill to high-skill level (d) From mid-skill to high-skill level 0.89 2 1%



Notes: Figure 11a depicts the share of individuals who have transitioned between the three skill levels of occupation, irrespective of their direction, amongst the respective survey waves. Figures 11b, 11c, and 11d provide information on the direction of the transitions. The total number of transitions in figure 11a add up to the respective shares in figures11b, 11c, and 11d, plus the transitions in the opposite direction (mid-skill to low-skill level; high-skill to mid-skill level, and high-skill to low-skill level), which are not reported in the table due to space constraints. Panel weights applied. For the definition of the skill levels of occupations, please see footnote 7. *Source:* authors calculations based on IFLS.

• Figure 11: Share of individuals who have transitioned between occupation's skill levels amongst survey waves and direction of these transitions, Indonesia

5 What drives different worker transitions across cohorts?

In this section, we seek to deepen our understanding of the relationship between age and the probability of transitioning and investigate what factors besides age may be driving work-to-work transitions. To that end, we first explore whether individual characteristics – such as having certain skills – are associated with transitioning. Second, given the consistent importance of the relationship between age and the probability of transitioning, we investigate this further by allowing the nonlinear relationship of age to have more flexibility through the use of fractional polynomials. We split our transition estimations by sex, to observe any potential gender effects.¹¹

Building upon the descriptive explorations of work-to-work transitions in the two countries in the previous two sections, we estimate an individual-level fixed effects model to explore what determines transitioning vs. staying, considering the same type of transitions previously discussed: sector, status of employment, nature of employment, and occupation skill level. The linear probability model (LPM) applied is represented by the following equation:

$$Y_{ijt} = \alpha + \beta Age_{ijt} + \zeta X_{it} + \gamma_i + \phi_j + \delta_t + \epsilon_{ijt}$$

where *Y* is a binary variable, which equals one if individual *i* in cohort *j* in time *t* (i.e., wave) transitioned from one wave to the next, which we refer to as *transitioners* hereafter, and 0 if they stayed between waves (*stay-ers*); *Age* are our age variables; *X* is a set of time-varying individual characteristics. Individual, cohort, and time fixed effects are included (γ , ϕ , and δ respectively), with age-cohort again fixed to 2008.

Section 4 gave insight into the most frequent transitions in South Africa and Indonesia, which we further discuss in this section to assess their drivers. Starting with South Africa, we analyze the most prevalent types of work-to-work transitions (assembling most of the work-to-work transitions): the skill-level of occupations and the nature of employment.

Table 4 compares workers who transition between skill levels to those who stay in the same occupation skill level; all estimations are linear probability models¹². The first thing that we observe is that the inclusion of individual and wave fixed effects is important, as indicated by the large increase of R2 in the specifications. Another finding worth highlighting is that individuals living in rural areas tend to transition more between occupations. This may be surprising as it indicates that rural jobs do not appear to trap individuals into occupations of a set skill level. Moreover, we find that middle- and high-skill education determine staying in that occupational skill level, with statistically significant effects found in columns 4, 5, and 6. In other words, individuals with higher education are less likely to transition across the skill level of occupations from wave to wave compared to those with low or no education. This may indicate that these individuals remain in occupations associated with higher salaries and job quality. In addition, the coefficient of the starting position –i.e. a dummy indicating whether an individual has started in a low-skilled occupation tend to stay in that occupation skill level. This may highlight the difficulty of transitioning "up" the ladder when one starts at the bottom. In short, we provide evidence that the educational level of individuals is associated with a lack of mobility between occupation skill levels.

¹¹ For a complete analysis on the evolution of labour force participation and employment patterns for women and men separately, see Calero and Delautre (forthcoming).

¹² Independent variables in the fixed-effects linear probability model include age and age-squared; the household size (HHsize); Rural which equals one if the respondent lives in a rural area; ISCED education codes (Low skill education: ISCED 1-2, middle skill education: ISCED 3-4, high skill education: ISCED: >=5); and whether an individual started in a low-skilled occupation the first wave the entered NIDS (Start low-skilled occ).

To observe any potential gender effects, we split our transition estimations by sex in table E.14 and table E.15 of the Appendix. We find that the men sub-sample drives the positive association between living in rural areas and occupational skills levels, and the negative association between education and transitioning. For women, those variables are not statistically significant.

10	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0255***	0.0814***	0.0283***	0.0433**	0.0583*	0.0501
	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.019)	(0.035)	(0.034)
Age ²	-0.0003***	-0.0005***	-0.0003***	-0.0007***	-0.0009**	-0.0007*
0.0070	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0055***	0.0004	-0.0054***	0.0028	0.0034	0.0044
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Rural	0.0295**	0.0053	0.0287**	0.0585	0.0601	0.0743*
	(0.012)	(0.020)	(0.013)	(0.043)	(0.042)	(0.044)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0225	-0.0334	0.0194	-0.1095**	-0.1038**	-0.1098**
	(0.014)	(0.029)	(0.015)	(0.044)	(0.045)	(0.043)
High skill (edu)	0.0177	-0.0391	0.0124	-0.1427***	-0.1391***	-0.1386***
	(0.015)	(0.031)	(0.016)	(0.046)	(0.047)	(0.045)
Start low-skilled occ						-0.3167***
						(0.022)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	20173	31953	19336	15768	15768	15768
\mathbb{R}^2	0.015	0.116	0.012	0.519	0.522	0.535

► Table 4: South Africa: Occupation skill level – stayers vs. transitioners

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

Finally, in order to observe any nonlinearities in the relationship between age and the probability of transitioning, we include an age-squared term in the estimations. We additionally analyze the nonlinear relationship between age and transitioning across skill levels of occupations more nuancedly, by means of fractional polynomials. Results are shown in Figure 12. Here, the component fit (i.e., $E = E_a + \zeta_1^{-itX}_a$, where E_a are the residuals from the full model, ζ_{1it} is the regression coefficient for age, and X_a is age) is plotted against the fractional polynomial (i.e., age), and draws a line of best fit. This allows us to further test whether we observe a nonlinear structure in age. The left-hand side figure displays the fractional polynomial results for occupation skill level based on column 6 in table 4 (nature of employment, on the right-hand side, is assessed below). We find a consistent relationship between age/age-squared and the probability of transitioning between occupation skill levels, which displays an inverse-U shape relationship, where younger individuals transition across the skill level of occupations more often than older individuals – i.e., as age increases, the coefficient *Age* is positively sloped, until reaching a turning point, where it becomes negatively sloped. This supports our previous transition matrix findings in a stricter model, including covariates and fixed effects (FE). However, the level of significance decreases with the inclusion of the interaction between age cohort and wave FEs, though the signs remain the same.



Figure 12: South Africa stayers vs transitioners: Fractional polynomials

Notes: This figure displays the fractional polynomial results for occupation skill-level and nature of employment based on column 6 in table 4 and table 5, respectively. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

The second most prevalent transition in South Africa is between formal and informal jobs, i.e., what we call nature of employment (table 5). With respect to age, we find again that younger cohorts tend to transition more. This pattern is consistent, although *Age* and *Age*² are not statistically significant in the strictest estimations shown in columns 5 and 6. We nevertheless investigate the nonlinear relationship between age and transitioning across the nature of employment applying fractional polynomials as we did for the transitions between occupation skill levels. The right-hand side of figure 12 shows the results. The fractional polynomial estimation supports our previous findings, namely that older individuals tend to stay while younger individuals are more likely to transition.

The statistical significance of other effects is less consistent across specifications. Still, the coefficient indicating whether individuals started their careers in an informal job is negative and significant, indicating that informal employment is persistent. Again, we split the sample by sex to observe potential differential effects. Table E.16 and table E.17 of the Appendix display the results. Here we find that living in rural areas is associated with higher odds of transitioning for women only.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0142***	0.0692***	0.0240***	0.0426**	0.0412	0.0137
	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.017)	(0.035)	(0.032)
Age^{2}	-0.0002***	-0.0005***	-0.0002***	-0.0005***	-0.0005	-0.0000
Concernence of the second seco	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0002	-0.0018	0.0006	-0.0061*	-0.0068*	-0.0050
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Rural	-0.0066	0.0089	-0.0065	0.0441	0.0397	0.0587
	(0.012)	(0.020)	(0.012)	(0.041)	(0.043)	(0.040)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0402***	0.0178	0.0395***	0.0017	0.0116	-0.0145
	(0.014)	(0.038)	(0.014)	(0.074)	(0.079)	(0.076)
High skill (edu)	0.0358**	0.0032	0.0324**	-0.0157	-0.0010	-0.0322
	(0.015)	(0.040)	(0.015)	(0.077)	(0.081)	(0.079)
Occ skill level					-0.0230	
					(0.015)	
Start at informal						-0.3011***
						(0.018)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	18361	29184	17635	14187	13334	14187
\mathbb{R}^2	0.006	0.082	0.008	0.498	0.501	0.524

> Table 5: South Africa: Nature of employment – stayers vs transitioners

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for the province. *p < 0.1, **p 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

We have relegated the sector and status of employment analysis to Appendix E,¹³ as these transitions are less prevalent in the country, but a couple of points are worth mentioning in terms of sectoral transitions. First, age appears once again to be an important driver of transitions between sectors (table E.3). Moreover, the analysis illustrates that individuals living in rural areas tend to stay in the same sector, instead of transitioning between sectors. Third, the starting point matters in the mobility of workers. People who start their careers in agriculture have higher chances of staying in that sector and not transitioning to other economic sectors.

Finally, an emerging body of evidence (Adhvaryu and Nyshadham, forthcoming; Dimitriadis and Koning, 2022; Chioda and Carney, 2021) highlights the importance of skills for labour market outcomes in LMIC and identifies the relationship of various types of skills and transitions to better jobs as avenues for future empirical research (Bennett et al., 2022; Deming, 2022). We thus investigate the possible relationship between transitioning and skills by including cognitive skills measures in our main estimation. We use the literacy of respondents in their home language and English¹⁴, their computer literacy skills, and whether they possess a driver's license as measures of cognitive skills. Tables E.1 and E.2 in the Appendix, iteratively add skill-related variables to the fixed-effects regression controlling for individual and the interaction between age cohort and wave FEs (based on column 5 of table 4). Figure 13 displays the coefficients adding all skills-related variables simultaneously to the nature of employment and occupation skill level estimations. We find that computer literacy has a positive relationship with transitioning between informal and formal jobs, while the other skill measures remain insignificant. On the contrary, table E.7 shows that cognitive skills do not seem to have a clear relationship with the probability of transitioning between economic sectors. That being said, it may be the case that other forms of (unobserved) cognitive and socioemotional skills may play a more significant role in transitions across the South African labour market.

For the analysis of Indonesia, we focus our estimations on the probability of transitioning between status of employment and economic sectors, as these are the most prevalent transitions in the country (following

¹³ Additional analyses by sex are available from the authors upon request.

¹⁴ Respondents were assessed in their reading and writing skills. To reduce the number of variables, we applied confirmatory factor analysis to establish latent variables which aggregate the information of reading and writing into the literacy variables.

31 ILO Working Paper 89

the transitions matrices in section 4). Analyses on the nature of employment and occupation skill levels are included in Appendix E.

Similar to South Africa and in line with our findings from the transition matrices, first focusing on status of employment (STE), *Age* and *Age*² have a consistent statistically significant relationship with transitions across different employment statuses (i.e., contributing family workers, own account workers, and employees) in all estimations (table 6).¹⁵ Younger individuals transition across STE more often than older individuals. *HHsize* is negative and significant in columns 2, and 4-6, indicating individuals in larger households transition across status of employment less. Both *Rural* and the education variables are not consistently significant; when Mid-edu and High-edu are significant, they are negative, indicating that individuals with higher levels of education transitions less than those with lower levels of education. Moreover, individuals who start their careers as contributing family workers (*Start as CFW*) are more likely to stay a contributing family worker in the next wave (about 36% more likely).



Figure 13: South Africa stayers vs transitioners: Cognitive skills

Notes: This figure depicts the effect of adding all skill-related variables simultaneously to the fixed-effects regression controlling for individual and age cohort × wave FEs (based on column 5 of table 4 and table 5, respectively). *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

We next observe transitions across sectors in table 7. Similar to the previous estimations we find a consistent relationship between age and age-squared and the probability of transitioning across economic sectors, where younger individuals transition across sectors more often than older individuals. *High-edu* is also negative and significant in all estimations, indicating that individuals with higher education are less likely to transition across sectors from wave to wave compared to those with low or no education. This may highlight a sort of specialization acquired through education. The statistical significance of the variable identifying the starting point in the mobility of workers (*Start in agric*) reinforces this – i.e., individuals who start their careers in the agriculture sector are more likely to stay in agriculture in the following waves (in line with what we observe in the transition matrix, in table 9, comparing age cohorts across transitions), similar to the case of South Africa.

¹⁵ The estimations include the same covariates used for the South Africa analysis. Variables include age and age-squared; household size (*HHsize*); *Rural*, which equals to one if the respondent lives in a rural area and zero otherwise; year of birth (Y OB); ISCED education codes (low-education levels are represented by codes 1-2, includes individuals who have no formal education, mid-level education are codes 3 and 4, and high education levels are codes 5 and above); occupational skill level, as was defined in section 4 (*Occ_skill*), and whether an individual started their transition path as a contributing family worker in the first wave they entered the survey (*Start as CFW*).

> Table 6: Indonesia stayers vs. transitioners: Status of employment

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0148***	0.0527***	0.0137***	0.0429***	0.0366***	0.0275***
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Age ²	-0.0001***	-0.0005***	-0.0001***	-0.0005***	-0.0004***	-0.0003***
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0008	-0.0054***	0.0019***	-0.0054***	-0.0049***	-0.0030*
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Rural	0.0288***	0.0000	0.0322***	0.0021	0.0019	0.0015
	(0.003)	(0.010)	(0.003)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Mid-edu	-0.0419***	-0.0030	-0.0478***	-0.0042	-0.0048	-0.0052
	(0.003)	(0.013)	(0.003)	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.013)
High-edu	-0.0905***	-0.0185	-0.0984***	-0.0227	-0.0266	-0.0286
	(0.004)	(0.019)	(0.004)	(0.019)	(0.019)	(0.018)
Occ skill				-0.0106*	-0.0118*	-0.0122**
				(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Start as CFW						-0.3602***
						(0.011)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	69537	69537	67473	47490	47490	47490
\mathbb{R}^2	0.053	0.080	0.052	0.476	0.479	0.495

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. Source: authors elaboration based on IFLS.

Rural is negative and significant in columns 2, and 4-6; individuals living in rural areas may transition across sectors less than those in urban areas, though the sign changes in column 3. We additionally split our transition estimations by sex in the appendix (tables E.18 to E.21,¹⁶) in order to observe any potential gender effects. In the sector estimations (tables E.20 and E.21), we find that the relationship between living in rural areas and transitioning across sector is driven by women, while *Rural* is never significant in the estimation for men. This may point towards women living in rural areas having lower transition rates across sector compared to men. Both the nature of employment and occupation tables (tables E.9 and E.11, respectively) display a similar nonlinear relationship between age and the probability of transitioning, as do the estimations that are split by sex (tables E.18 to E.21).

We further explore the non-linear relationship between age and the probability of transitioning, as in the case of South Africa. Figure 14 displays this relationship for the probability of transiting between status of employment and economic sectors, using fractional polynomials (estimations are displayed in table E.13 of the Appendix), based on column 6 of tables 6 and 7. We observe that the inverse U-shaped pattern changes from upward to downward sloping during prime age (in the linear probability model estimations, the turning point for STE and sector is approximately 45 and 44 years of age, respectively). Within those estimations, youth and early prime age individuals are more likely to transition, while mid-prime age and older individuals have a higher likelihood of being stayers.

¹⁶ Additional results for occupation and nature of employment split by gender available upon request.

▶ Table 7: Indonesia stayers vs. transitioners: Sector

	(1)	(2)	(2)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(3)	(0)
Age	0.0186***	0.0555***	0.0143***	0.0436***	0.0432***	0.0402***
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Age ²	-0.0002***	-0.0005***	-0.0001***	-0.0005***	-0.0005***	-0.0005***
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0038***	-0.0010	0.0046***	-0.0008	-0.0013	-0.0010
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Rural	0.0044	-0.0316***	0.0070**	-0.0301***	-0.0303***	-0.0312***
	(0.003)	(0.011)	(0.003)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.011)
Mid-edu	-0.0108***	0.0067	-0.0140***	0.0059	0.0044	0.0031
	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.004)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.016)
High-edu	-0.0681***	-0.0405*	-0.0727***	-0.0437*	-0.0515**	-0.0444*
	(0.005)	(0.024)	(0.005)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.024)
Occ skill				-0.0303***	-0.0309***	-0.0274***
				(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Start in agric						-0.1241***
						(0.009)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	58723	58723	56701	36255	36253	36253
\mathbb{R}^2	0.045	0.102	0.043	0.533	0.536	0.540

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. Source: authors elaboration based on IFLS.

Figure 14: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: Fractional polynomials



Notes: This figure displays the fractional polynomial results for sector and status of employment based on column 6 in tables 7 and 6, respectively. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

Similar to South Africa, the IFLS included measures of cognitive skills. In waves 3 and 4 of the survey, individuals aged 7-24 were asked questions eliciting fluid intelligence (i.e., Raven's tests¹⁷), and mathematical skills (i.e., arithmetic questions). Younger children aged 7-14 were asked easier arithmetic questions (*Cog_easy*), with the harder arithmetic test given to older children/young adults aged 15-24 (*Cog_hard*). Cognitive skill questions were extended to all adults (i.e., including the sample above 24 years old) in wave 5 of the survey. Adults were given fluid intelligence tests in wave 5, while only those up to age 59 were asked the arithmetic questions (i.e., adults were given the *Cog_hard* questions). In order to test the relationship between cognitive skills and the probability of transitioning, we created a few variables using the fluid intelligence

¹⁷ Raven's test are a series of pictures, with a piece of each picture missing. Individuals must choose, from a set of picture cut-outs, which cut-out belongs in the corresponding picture.
and arithmetic test questions. First, we used confirmatory factor analysis to create latent variables based on individual responses to all of the questions in *Cog_easy* and *Cog_hard*. This follows the method- ology used in the seminal cognitive/socioemotional skills literature (e.g., Heckman et al. (2006), Cunha et al. (2010), Heckman et al. (2013)). We also aggregate the number of correct answers for both the fluid and arithmetic questions (i.e., aggregating the raw scores), to create the variable *Cog_all*. Given that only youth were asked cognitive skill questions in waves 3 and 4, only one year of data (wave 5) allows us to look at a sample which includes adults.

In addition to cognitive skills, individuals in wave 5 of the survey were given the Big Five personality test. The Big Five test is widely used in psychology and has been used with increasing frequency in economic literature (Almlund et al., 2011; Heckman et al., 2019). Based on factor analysis, this personality test has created a measure for five personality traits: openness, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism. The IFLS uses the 15-question scale, with individuals answering a five-point Likert scale (i.e., from disagree strongly to agree strongly) for each question. Scores for each of the five traits were aggregated to create the variables used.



▶ Figure 15: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: taking into account cognitive and noncognitive skills

Notes: This figure depicts the effect of adding all skill-related variables simultaneously to the fixed-effects regression controlling for individual and age cohort × wave FEs, thus representing column 5 in tables E.7 and E.8, respectively. Source: authors elaboration based on IFLS.

Both the cognitive and socioemotional indicators give interesting insights into other potentially important factors which are related to the probability of transitioning. Figure 15 displays the point estimates for the hard cognitive skill test *Cog_hard* and five personality traits, along with *Age* and *Age*².¹⁸ Once again, age displays an inverse U-shaped relationship with the probability of transitioning across all estimations when our cognitive and socioemotional skill measures are included. Overall, cognitive skills do not have a consistent relationship with the probability of transitioning skills matter. In particular, we observe statistically significant relationships in measures of openness and neuroticism. Individuals who

¹⁸ The figure depicts column 5 in tables E.7 and E.8 of the appendix (tables E.10 and E.12 in the appendix show results for nature of employment and occupation skill level, respectively).

are more open to new experiences display higher odds of transitioning between sectors, nature of employment, and occupation skill levels. Meanwhile, neuroticism (which is the opposite of emotional stability) is negatively and statistically significantly related to transitions between formal and informal jobs (i.e., nature of employment), indicating that people with a higher level of neuroticism (i.e., who lack emotional stability) have higher chances of being a stayer. These findings suggest that the skills required to be mobile in the labour market are specific to the type of transition we are observing, even when looking at socioemotional skills. This finding could have been expected for transitions that occur between occupations¹⁹, and to a lesser extent sectors²⁰, given existing evidence. It is, however, a novel finding to understand other types of transitions such as between formal and informal jobs. This suggestive evidence, based on a cross-sectional estimation (as the personality questions were only asked in wave 5) opens the door to a new research avenue. Further research using panel data that allows the identification of various skills, and multiple transition periods would be an interesting next step in this line of research.

¹⁹ For example, social skills have been found to have increasing importance for managerial occupations, reducing coordination costs, attrition and improving managers' compensation (Deming (2017), Hansen and Fuller (2021), Hoffman and Tadelis (2021)).

²⁰ Chioda and Carney (2021) show that certain socioemotional skills (i.e., negotiation, persuasion and self- efficacy) led to higher business earnings than hard skills in an impact evaluation of a business skills program in Uganda.

Conclusion

While there is a significant amount of literature observing labour market transitions, such as school to work, or employment to unemployment, the literature which focuses on work- to-work transitions is scant, especially in LMIC. This study takes a cross-country comparative approach in two major middle-income economies, Indonesia and South Africa, through the use of long-term panel data. Focusing on work-to-work transitions, we first explore the shape and frequency of transitions over time, across and within age cohorts. Across cohorts, both countries appear to be experiencing a shift in employment status, whereby younger cohorts are increasingly absorbing employee jobs, which also appear to be of better quality (formal and performing higher-skilled occupations).

There are clear differences in transition patterns between the two countries when looking within cohorts. South Africa overall displays larger working mobility, although transitions have increased drastically in Indonesia over time. In South Africa, shifts between the skill level of occupations are the most prevalent type of transition, where most movements occur from lower to higher skill-level occupations among individuals in the younger cohorts. Meanwhile, individuals in older cohorts (but also as younger cohorts get older) start transitioning back from higher to lower skill-level occupations. Moreover, there is much more mobility between formal and informal jobs than there is between employment statuses in the country. Most of these transitions are out of informality and towards formal jobs, and this type of mobility, though more prevalent at the beginning of people's careers, remains high at other stages of people's working lives. Finally, shifts between economic sectors are less prevalent in the country, but we do observe some mobility from industry to services and vice versa.

In contrast, in Indonesia, transitions between employment statuses are the most prevalent type of mobility, where most people shift from own-account work to employee status. While there is mobility between occupations' skill levels, people shift occupations much less than they shift economic sectors and employment statuses. Moreover, barely half of the transitions between occupations' skill levels take place from lower to higher skill-level occupations. In terms of shifts between economic sectors, most transitions are from industry to services, but other transitions are also relevant, especially those from services to agriculture, from agriculture to services and from services to industry. Finally, the rate of mobility between formal and informal jobs is low in Indonesia, where a high incidence of informality characterizes the labour market. Nevertheless, most of the transitions that occur are out of informality.

These results are confirmed when looking at the probability of transitioning or staying, through a fixed effects model with covariates. We find that younger cohorts transition more than older cohorts. Additionally, our analysis finds that precarious forms of employment are persistent. In particular, individuals who start their careers at the bottom of the transition ladder (i.e., in informal work, the agriculture sector or a low-skill occupation) are less likely to transition out of this situation. This finding reflects the greater hurdle faced by vulnerable individuals to transition towards decent jobs. Moreover, even when transitions are likely, the journey towards decent jobs might be long. As observed in the Indonesia and South Africa samples, people tend to decrease their transition rate during prime age, indicating that it may take individuals many years to move towards stable employment. In sum, younger age determines transitioning towards better jobs, but what else matters? Though our exploration of skills as drivers of labour mobility is not conclusive, there is suggestive evidence that socioemotional skills play a role in encouraging certain types of transitions. For example, in South Africa, computer literacy is positively related to transitioning between informal and formal jobs. Meanwhile, in the Indonesian sample, higher levels of openness to new experiences are related to a higher probability of transitioning across sectors, nature of employment, and occupation; and the lack of emotional stability is related to lower transition probabilities between informal and formal jobs.

These results highlight the importance of furthering the understanding of the context in which transitions are being observed, and, therefore, of collecting panel data that allows for such exploration. In this regard, our research point to two important research avenues so far unexplored in LMIC: (i) the need to deepen our understanding of the role of certain skills (e.g., socioemotional ones) in fostering advantageous work-to-work transitions; (ii) examining how changes in the labour market structure of different countries or regions have affected transitions over time. Moreover, future research could investigate transitions at a more

37 ILO Working Paper 89

granular sectoral level and how the transformation to a sustainable economy will affect working transitions (e.g. transitions out of fossil-fuel-based industries and sectors to *green* jobs and industries.

▶ Table A.1: Key labour market indicators for South Africa and Indonesia by age cohort, 2010, 2016, and 2019

				So	outh Afr	ica							I	ndonesi	a			
		2010			2016			2019			2010 Q3			2016 Q3			2019 Q3	
	Youth	Prime	Older	Youth	Prime	Older	Youth	Prime	Older	Youth	Prime	Older	Youth	Prime	Older	Youth	Prime	Older
Indicators	15-24	25-54	55-64	15-24	25-54	55-64	15-24	25-54	55-64	15-24	25-54	55-64	15-24	25-54	55-64	15-24	25-54	55-64
Labour Force Status									1-1-1-1-1-1									
Employed	11.5	54.5	33.4	12.0	56.2	36.2	10.76	55.15	37.36	40.5	76.4	69.1	37.3	76.3	68.9	38.52	77.97	70.32
Unemployed	12.8	15.0	2.8	14.4	18.4	3.8	14.78	20.53	4.15	7.4	2.4	1.0	6.5	1.5	0.4	6.00	1.35	0.33
Outside labour force	75.7	30.5	63.8	73.7	25.4	60.0	74.46	24.31	58.49	52.2	21.2	29.8	56.2	22.3	30.7	55.48	20.68	29.35
Labour force participation	24.3	69.5	36.2	26.3	74.6	40.0	25.5	75.7	41.5	47.8	78.8	70.2	43.8	77.7	69.3	44.5	79.3	70.7
Unemployment rate	52.8	21.5	7.7	54.6	24.7	9.4	57.9	27.1	10.0	15.5	3.0	1.5	14.8	1.9	0.5	13.5	1.7	0.5
Informality																		
Nature: Informal empl.	78.9	55.7	51.8	77.1	55.5	47.0	76.93	54.47	50.79				94.0	82.5	87.7	91.84	78.62	83.37
Sector: Inf. empl.	58.8	36.8	30.1	56.2	35.7	25.5	54.86	35.63	27.16				75.1	64.6	70.1	50.45	53.93	71.22
Status in employment (%)																		
Employees	89.9	84.9	76.8	91.3	85.5	78.5	89.92	84.39	78.02	43.2	35.7	19.3	56.9	45.7	26.4	56.63	45.97	27.52
Employers	1.3	4.8	8.8	1.3	4.8	8.6	1.66	4.96	7.89	0.6	3.3	4.3	0.6	3.9	5.2	0.75	3.63	4.29
Own account workers	6.3	9.7	13.7	5.8	9.3	12.5	6.40	10.24	13.63	17.8	42.5	59.9	11.7	36.8	54.6	13.86	37.76	55.25
Contr. family worker	2.4	0.6	0.7	1.6	0.4	0.4	2.02	0.41	0.46	38.4	18.5	16.5	30.8	13.6	13.8	28.76	12.64	12.95
Sector employment (%)																		
Agriculture	7.8	5.5	6.7	8.8	5.2	5.6	7.39	5.23	5.90	44.1	44.6	61.4	31.7	34.7	51.4	29.63	33.23	48.46
Industry	23.7	22.8	21.2	23.9	22.7	21.4	21.90	21.82	19.80	18.7	15.4	10.0	21.7	19.2	13.9	20.93	20.05	15.00
Services	68.6	71.7	72.1	67.2	72.1	73.0	70.70	72.95	74.29	37.3	40.0	28.6	46.6	46.1	34.7	49.44	46.72	36.53
Occupations																		
Skill level 1 (low)	33.7	30.1	35.1	34.7	30.7	34.5	34.82	30.09	36.61	12.9	10.3	7.3	18.0	14.0	12.6	21.05	16.67	14.41
Skill level 2 (medium)	53.6	45.4	37.2	53.3	47.0	36.0	53.22	48.26	36.77	81.3	78.8	86.4	75.0	73.4	80.0	70.62	69.43	75.95
Skill level 3, 4 (high)	12.6	24.3	27.6	12.0	22.1	29.4	11.96	21.47	26.52	5.4	10.2	6.2	6.8	11.9	7.2	8.03	13.27	9.44

Notes: Age categorizations include: 'Youth' (15-24 years), 'Prime aged' (25-54 years) and 'Older' (54-64 years). Categories not necessarily add up to 100 as the share of 'not classified' is omitted. All classifications follow ILOSTAT definitions. Blanks indicate that no data is available. For the definition of the skill level of occupations please see footnote 7 *Source:* South African labour force survey in 2010, 2016, and 2019 from ILOSTAT. Indonesian quarterly labour force survey in 2010-Q3, 2016-Q3, and 2019-Q3 from ILOSTAT.

Appendix B: Further information on the panel sample sizes and attrition rates in the IFLS (Indonesia) and NIDS (South Africa)

When working with panel data, sample attrition is often a concern. It may reduce the precision of the estimation by reducing the sample size. It could also bias results if attrition is non-random. A variety of reasons may lead to attrition from the survey: some individuals may not have been tracked, refused to be interviewed, died between survey waves, etc. Table B.1 depicts the extent of individual attrition between waves for the two panel databases. Overall, attrition in Indonesia is quite low, especially considering the time spans between each wave of the survey. The sample size increased as additional household members were interviewed in subsequent waves. The low rates of attrition were made possible due to the IFLS team tracking individuals who have relocated to other households in between the survey waves (Dartanto et al., 2020). The low rates of attrition are in line with findings in other studies. Mani et al. (2018) and Thomas et al. (2012) report they are able to follow 81 and 86 percent of individuals, respectively, between waves 1 through 4.

Meanwhile, while the NIDS also aims to track all original respondents in South Africa, a considerable number of people attrite between waves. Wave-to-wave attrition fluctuates around 25 percent which is relatively high but in line with household panels in other developing and emerging countries (Alderman et al., 2001). Besides, it should be noted that this wave-to-wave attrition is higher than the panel attrition rate, as the former does not take into account individuals who have previously exited the survey but have been successfully interviewed in subsequent waves. While attrition occurs, the sample size is still increasing as younger household members (15+) enter the adult survey and individuals are added to the sample to maintain representativeness.

Though overall attrition is low in Indonesia, attrition attributed to individuals who answered questions in the employment module is considerably higher. Table B.2 in the appendix displays the sample sizes and attrition rates of individuals who answered the employment module in the IFLS, as well as those who are employed. First, observing the sample size of those who answered the employment module, we observe smaller sample sizes. This is due to the sampling scheme employed by the IFLS. In the first round of the survey (IFLS1), specific household members were randomly selected to give de- tailed information, as interviewing all members of each household would be expensive. The following individuals were selected to obtain detailed information, including the employment modules: the household head, the spouse of the household head, a household member over the age of 50 and their spouse, two children of the spouse aged between zero and fourteen (randomly selected), and from the remaining household members, a member aged between fifteen and forty-nine and her/his spouse (though only for 25% of the households, which were randomly selected (Strauss et al., 2016). In terms of the higher attrition rates for those who answered the employment module, though individuals may have given basic information in multiple waves of the surveys (thus, the low attrition rates displayed in Table B.1), they may not have answered questions in the employment module for all survey rounds. Setyonaluri (2014) states that this may be due to respondent fatigue. Considering individuals who answered the employment module, the average attrition rate overall five waves is more similar to that of South Africa (approximately 26% for South Africa, and 29% for Indonesia).

	South Africa	Indonesia
Sample size		
Wave 1	15631	33081
Wave 2	17626	39717
Wave 3	18689	55033
Wave 4	22741	72981
Wave 5	23892	89369
Attrition rate		
Wave 1 to Wave 2	27.02%	4.64%
Wave 2 to Wave 3	27.51%	3.08%
Wave 3 to Wave 4	23.23%	7.16%
Wave 4 to Wave 5	25.76%	10.97%

▶ Table B.1: Panel sample sizes and attrition rates between waves

Notes: The South African sample size corresponds to the number of respondents of the NIDS adults (15+) questionnaire. *Source:* authors calculations based on NIDS and IFLS.

If non-attritors and attritors systematically differ in the outcome variables of interest and attrition is found to be non-random, a solution is to create inverse probability weights which adjust for sample attrition (Fitzgerald et al., 1998; Wooldridge, 2010). Fortunately, in the case of South Africa, NIDS has released panel weights along with the data, which are intended to correct for bias resulting from non-random attrition between Wave 1 and subsequent waves (Branson and Wittenberg, 2019). The IFLS similarly has cross-sectional and panel weights designed to correct for attrition and sampling design. The panel weights adjust the original survey design to ensure that the weighted distribution of households who remain in the sample (non-attritors) is comparable to the cross-sectional distribution of households in the first wave. The panel weights in the IFLS, though, are only included for individuals who are present in all five waves.

To determine whether attrition is non-random, we perform a series of tests. These tests rely on a binary variable indicating whether an individual present in one wave exits the survey in the subsequent wave. We conduct two tests that are commonly applied in the literature to determine whether attrition is random: *attrition probits* (Fitzgerald et al., 1998) in which the attrition variable is regressed on the outcome variable of interest and the Becketti, Gould, Lillard and Welch (or BGLW) test (Becketti et al., 1988), which is simply the inverse of the attrition probit, in which the attrition selection is based on the significance of the coefficient of the attrition dummy. Significant coefficients indicate the presence of non-random attrition, which can be remedied by applying inverse probability weights. To determine whether the weights have corrected the issue of attrition, all specifications for both tests are conducted with and without weights.

The tests are conducted separately for each outcome of interest. In our case, this is complicated by the fact that our outcome variables of interest (i.e., whether an individual has transitioned in their status of employment, sector, etc.) depends on an individual being present in at least two waves. Consequently, no such variable can be created for those that attrite. We use the underlying variables (status in employment, sector, etc.) as a proxy to determine whether attrition is non-random.

Table B.3, presents the results of the attrition probit and the BGLW test for South Africa. Applying the panel weights produces attrition test results that generally indicate that attrition is random, suggesting that the weights perform well. We thus apply these weights in our analysis. Similar to the NIDS, the IFLS provides weights to correct for attrition and sampling bias, creating a more representative sample to that of the population in the thirteen provinces captured in the survey. It must be noted that the included weights in the IFLS correct for attrition of the entire sample, not for that of the employment module. Table B.4 shows the results of the tests for random attrition in Indonesia. It is clear that attrition is not random; however, the bias decreases once the weights are used.

	Indonesia (answered employment module)	Indonesia (employed individuals)
Sample size		
Wave 1	14,416	9649
Wave 2	19,866	11825
Wave 3	25,420	16939
Wave 4	29,052	19985
Wave 5	34,420	24120
Attrition rate		
Wave 1 to Wave 2	21.16%	31.55%
Wave 2 to Wave 3	22.69%	28.02%
Wave 3 to Wave 4	37.63%	41.44%
Wave 4 to Wave 5	33.35%	39.75%

> Table B.2: Panel sample sizes and attrition rates between waves, employment module, Indonesia (IFLS)

Notes: This table displays the sample sizes and attrition rates of individuals who answered the employment module in the IFLS, as well as those who are employed in Indonesia. *Source:* authors' calculations based on IFLS.

► Table B.3: Results of the tests for selective attrition, South Africa (NIDS)

Outcome	STE		Nature: fo	ormal	Secto	r	Occup	ation
Attrition tests	Attrition probit	BGLW test						
W1 to W2								
without weights								
Coefficient	-0.16***		0.20***		-0.01**		-0.01	
outcome	(0.26)		(0.04)		(0.01)		(0.01)	
Attrition		-0.12***		0.08***		-0.26**		-0.10
coefficient		(0.02)		(0.02)		(0.11)		(0.09)
with panel weigh	ts		110.007					
Coefficient	-0.02		-0.01		-0.00		0.00	
outcome	(0.06)		(0.13)		(0.02)		(0.02)	
Attrition		-0.01		-0.02		-0.01		0.32**
coefficient		(0.01)		(0.02)		(0.14)		(0.16)
W2 to W3								
without weights								
Coefficient	-0.02		0.05		-0.00		-0.01**	
outcome	(0.04)		(0.04)		(0.01)		(0.00)	
Attrition		-0.01***		0.02***		-0.45***		-0.45***
coefficient		(0.02)		(0.02)		(0.11)		(0.11)
with panel weigh	ts		10000					
Coefficient	-0.03		0.15*		-0.02		0.00	
outcome	(0.08)		(0.08)		(0.01)		(0.01)	
Attrition		-0.01		-0.07*		-0.59		0.16
coefficient		(0.03)		(0.04)		(0.40)		(0.35)
W3 to W4								
without weights								
Coefficient	-0.02		0.04		0.00		-0.02***	
outcome	(0.04)		(0.04)		(0.00)		(0.01)	
Attrition		-0.01		0.02		0.06		-0.28***
coefficient		(0.02)		(0.02)		(0.14)		(0.10)
with panel weigh	ts							
Coefficient	-0.08		-0.09		-0.01		-0.02	
outcome	(0.11)		(0.11)	N 27 12	(0.01)	1000020	(0.02)	
Attrition		-0.03		-0.05		-0.24		-0.60
coefficient		(0.04)		(0.06)		(0.51)		(0.52)
W4 to W5								
without weights			10104					
Coefficient	-0.00		-0.01		0.01		-0.01*	
outcome	(0.03)	0.00	(0.03)	0.01	(0.01)		(0.00)	
Attrition		-0.00		-0.01		0.13		-0.15*
coefficient	1.0	(0.01)		(0.01)		(0.09)		(0.00)
with panel weigh	ts 0.05		0.02		0.01		0.01	
Coefficient	-0.05		-0.03		-0.01		(0.01	
outcome	(0.12)	0.00	(0.09)	0.00	(0.01)	0.10	(0.02)	0.00
Attrition		-0.02		-0.02		-0.18		0.33
coefficient		(0.05)		(0.05)		(0.26)		(0.28)

Notes: This table presents the results of the attrition probit and the BGLW test for South Africa. * p < 0.10, ** p < 0.05, *** p < 0.01, with significant coefficients here indicating that attrition is non-random. For the NIDS, the panel weights are provided by NIDS to correct for non-random attrition. Standard errors in parentheses. *Source:* authors' calculations based on NIDS.

► Table B.4: Results of the tests for selective attrition, Indonesia (IFLS)

Outcome	STE		Nature: fo	ormal	Secto	r	Occur	ation
Attrition tests	Attrition probit	BGLW test	Attrition probit	BGLW test	Attrition probit	BGLW test	Attrition probi	t BGLW test
W1 to W2								
without weights								
Coefficient	-0.078***						0.162***	
outcome	(0.017)		ā	-	1.5	70	(0.054)	
Attrition		-0.286***						0.059***
coefficient		(0.063)	17	5	100	75		(0.019)
with weights							100000	
Coefficient	-0.074***						0.187**	
outcome	(0.020)		-	-	-	-	(0.076)	
Attrition		-0.276***						0.062**
coefficient		(0.069)	-	-	-	-		(0.026)
W2 to W3								
without weights								
Coefficient	-0.048**				0.038***		-0.037**	
outcome	(0.020)		ā		(0.009)		(0.017)	
Attrition		-0.203**				0.825***		-0.222**
coefficient		(0.086)	17	-		(0.188)		(0.096)
with weights								
Coefficient	-0.044**				0.036***		-0.035*	
outcome	(0.021)		-	-	(0.010)		(0.021)	
Attrition		-0.186**				0.772***		-0.204*
coefficient		(0.086)	-	-		(0.212)		(0.122)
W3 to W4								
without weights								
Coefficient	-0.131***				0.021***		-0.012	
outcome	(0.012)		-	-	(0.003)		(0.009)	
Attrition		-0.495***				1.153***		-0.069
coefficient		(0.046)	ā	-		(0.135)		(0.051)
with weights	202067677				2011220		100	
Coefficient	-0.120***		107		0.022***		-0.027**	
outcome	(0.013)		-	-	(0.003)		(0.012)	
Attrition		-0.462***				1.234***		-0.154**
coefficient		(0.045)				(0.172)		(0.070)
W4 to W5								
without weights								
Coefficient	-0.131***		0.301***		0.246***		0.050	
outcome	(0.010)		(0.036)		(0.017)		(0.031)	
Attrition		-0.501**		0.077***		0.353***		0.019*
coefficient		(0.039)		(0.009)		(0.024)		(0.011)
with weights								
Coefficient	-0.137***		0.348***		0.250***		0.078*	
outcome	(0.011)		(0.040)		(0.018)		(0.041)	
Attrition		-0.523***		0.087***		0.380***		0.028*
coefficient		(0.037)		(0.012)		(0.024)		(0.015)

Notes: This table presents the results of the attrition probit and the BGLW test for Indonesia. * p < 0.10, ** p < 0.05, *** p < 0.01, with significant coefficients here indicating that attrition is non-random. For the IFLS, weights are provided by IFLS to correct for non-random attrition and sampling. Standard errors in parentheses. *Source:* authors' calculations based on IFLS.

Appendix C: Differences in the composition of labour market variables across and within cohorts in Indonesia and South Africa

Table C.1: Share of workers by status of employment, sector, occupation skill level and formality by age cohort in South Africa, wave 1 (2008) and wave 5 (2017)

						Status	of emp	ployme	ent						Se	ctor				
			E	mploy	ee	Sel	f-emplo	oyed	Cont	r. fami	ly work		Agricu	lture	10	Indust	ry	5	Service	es
Birth			W1	W5		W1	W5		W1	W5	-	W1	W5		W1	W5	-	W1	W5	
	Cohort age '08	Age '17			Diff			Diff			Diff			Diff			Diff			Diff
year			'08	'1 7		' 08	'17		'08	'17		'08	'17		'08	'17		'08	'1 7	
1094 1002	Youth	24.22	0.72	0.00	0.19	0.07	0.00	0.02	0.22	0.01	0.21	0.10	0.06	0.12	0.22	0.20	0.04	0.50	0.66	0.16
1964-1995	(15-24)	24-33	0.72	0.90	0.10	0.07	0.09	0.03	0.22	0.01	-0.21	0.10	0.06	-0.12	0.32	0.20	-0.04	0.50	0.00	0.16
107/ 1092	Prime 1	24 42	0.92	0.99	0.05	0.11	0.12	0.01	0.07	0.01	0.06	016	0.09	0.08	0.28	0.20	0.02	0.55	0.62	0.07
19/4-1905	(25-34)	34-43	0.62	0.00	0.05	0.11	0.12	0.01	0.07	0.01	-0.06	0.16	0.08	-0.06	0.28	0.50	0.02	0.55	0.62	0.07
1064 1072	Prime 2	11 52	0.90	0.94	0.04	014	0.14	0.00	0.06	0.02	0.04	0.16	0.00	0.07	0.24	0.24	0.00	0.50	0.66	0.07
1964-1975	(35-44)	44-55	0.00	0.04	0.04	0.14	0.14	0.00	0.00	0.02	-0.04	0.10	0.09	-0.07	0.24	0.24	0.00	0.59	0.00	0.07
105/ 1062	Prime 3	54 63	0.73	0.70	0.06	0.19	0.10	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.07	0.17	0.11	0.06	0.26	0.26	0.00	0.57	0.63	0.05
1954-1965	(45-54)	54-05	0.75	0.79	0.00	0.10	0.19	0.01	0.09	0.02	-0.07	0.17	0.11	-0.00	0.20	0.20	0.00	0.57	0.05	0.05
1044 1052	Older	61 72	0.64	0.50	0.05	016	0.28	0.11	0.20	014	0.06	0.21	0.24	0.02	0.22	0.15	0.07	0.57	0.61	0.04
1944-1955	(55-64)	04-75	0.04	0.59	-0.05	0.10	0.20	0.11	0.20	0.14	-0.00	0.21	0.24	0.05	0.22	0.15	-0.07	0.57	0.01	0.04

						0	ccupat	ions				Natu	re of en	nployment
			SI	cill leve	el 1	SI	cill leve	el 2	Skill	level 3	and 4		Forma	ality
Birth			W1	W5		W1	W5		W1	W5		W1	W5	
	Age in '08	Age '17			Diff			Diff			Diff			Diff
year			'08	'1 7		'08	'1 7		'08	'17		' 08	'17	
108/1-1003	Youth	24-33	0.33	0.21	-0.12	0.56	0.57	0.01	0.11	0.22	0.10	0.34	0.59	0.25
1904-1995	(15-24)	24-55	0.55	0.21	-0.12	0.00	0.07	0.01	0.11	0.22	0.10	0.54	0.59	0.20
1074 1092	Prime 1	24 42	0.20	0.25	0.04	0.55	0.52	0.01	016	0.21	0.05	0.52	0.64	0.12
19/4-1905	(25-34)	34-43	0.29	0.25	-0.04	0.55	0.55	-0.01	0.10	0.21	0.05	0.52	0.04	0.12
1064 1073	Prime 2	11 53	0.20	0.31	0.01	0.40	0.43	0.07	0.21	0.27	0.05	0.56	0.58	0.02
1904-1975	(35-44)	44-00	0.29	0.51	0.01	0.49	0.45	-0.07	0.21	0.27	0.05	0.50	0.50	0.02
105/-1063	Prime 3	54-63	0.35	0.30	-0.05	0.43	0.40	0.05	0.22	0.22	0.00	0.53	0.57	0.05
1954-1965	(45-54)	54-05	0.55	0.50	-0.05	0.45	0.49	0.05	0.22	0.22	0.00	0.55	0.57	0.05
(944-1953 O	Older	61 73	0.30	0.20	0.18	0.45	0.40	0.04	0 17	0.30	0.23	0.48	0.44	0.05
1744-1933	(55-64)	04-75	0.39	0.20	-0.10	0.45	0.40	-0.04	0.17	0.39	0.23	0.40	0.44	-0.05

Notes: The table illustrates the evolution across waves 1 and 5 in the share of workers in each employment status, sector, occupation skill level and formality by age cohorts in South Africa. 'Diff' denoted the difference in the share between Wave 1 (2008) and Wave 5 (2017). Panel weights are applied. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

Table C.2: Share of workers by status of employment, sector, occupation skill level and formality in Indonesia by age cohort, wave 1 (1993), wave 4 (2007/08) and wave 5 (2014/15)

				82571727				Stat	us of Em	ployment			1.11			
				Employ	yee			Ow	n Accour	nt Worker			Contril	outing Fa	mily Work	ær
Birth year	Age in 2007/08 (W4)	W1 ′93	W4 ′07/08	W5 ′14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5	W1 ′93	W4 ′07/08	W5 '14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5	W1 ′93	W4 ′07/08	W5 '14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5
1983-1992	Youth (15-24)		0.63	0.67		0.04		0.11	0.23		0.12		0.26	0.09		-0.17
1973-1982	Prime 1 (25-34)	0.42	0.57	0.55	0.15	-0.02	0.17	0.28	0.34	0.11	0.06	0.40	0.13	0.08	-0.26	-0.05
1963-1972	Prime 2 (35-44)	0.44	0.47	0.47	0.02	0.01	0.40	0.39	0.41	-0.01	0.02	0.14	0.12	0.09	-0.02	-0.03
1953-1962	Prime 3 (45-54)	0.44	0.38	0.37	-0.06	-0.01	0.46	0.48	0.52	0.02	0.04	0.09	0.13	0.09	0.04	-0.04
1943-1952	Older (55-64)	0.36	0.25	0.21	-0.11	-0.04	0.51	0.58	0.66	0.07	0.08	0.11	0.15	0.11	0.04	-0.04

2				STATISTICS					Sector	-				197 C 1 1 1 1 1		
			6	Agricultu	are				Industr	y				Service	s	
A Birth year 2 (1 1083-1002	Age in 2007/08 (W4)	W2 '97/98	W4 ′07/08	W5 '14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5	W2 ′97/98	W4 '07/08	W5 ′14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5	W2 ′97/98	W4 ′07/08	W5 '14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5
1983-1992	Youth (15-24)		0.27	0.18		-0.08		0.25	0.27		0.02		0.48	0.55		0.06
1973-1982	Prime 1 (25-34)	0.26	0.26	0.23	0.00	-0.03	0.37	0.24	0.23	-0.13	-0.01	0.37	0.50	0.53	0.13	0.04
1963-1972	Prime 2 (35-44)	0.28	0.31	0.29	0.03	-0.01	0.29	0.19	0.19	-0.10	0.00	0.43	0.50	0.52	0.07	0.01
1953-1962	Prime 3 (45-54)	0.32	0.39	0.40	0.07	0.01	0.23	0.15	0.13	-0.08	-0.01	0.45	0.46	0.46	0.01	0.00
1943-1952	Older (55-64)	0.42	0.52	0.53	0.11	0.01	0.16	0.09	0.10	-0.07	0.01	0.42	0.39	0.37	-0.03	-0.02

							Occup	ation							Na	ture of Em	ploymen	t	
				Low sl	kill				Medium	skill		High	skill			Forma	lity		
Birth year	Age in 2007/08 (W4)	W1 ′93	W4 '07/08	W5 '14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5	W1 ′93	W4 ′07/08	W5 '14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5	W1 ′93	W4 '07/08	W5 '14/15	Diff W1-W4	Diff W4-W5	W4 ′07/08	W5 '14/15	Diff W4-W5
1983-1992	Youth (15-24)	0.00	0.09	0.08	0.00	-0.02	0.00	0.84	0.80	0.00	-0.04	0.00	0.07	0.13	0.00	0.06	0.09	0.20	0.12
1973-1982	Prime 1 (25-34)	0.07	0.08	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.87	0.83	0.82	-0.05	0.00	0.02	0.09	0.10	0.08	0.01	0.14	0.16	0.01
1963-1972	Prime 2 (35-44)	0.04	0.08	0.08	0.05	0.00	0.85	0.81	0.82	-0.03	0.01	0.09	0.10	0.10	0.01	-0.01	0.14	0.14	0.00
1953-1962	Prime 3 (45-54)	0.05	0.08	0.07	0.03	-0.01	0.86	0.84	0.85	-0.02	0.01	0.11	0.09	0.08	-0.03	-0.01	0.13	0.11	-0.03
1943-1952	Older (55-64)	0.03	0.07	0.06	0.04	-0.01	0.90	0.87	0.92	0.02	0.05	0.10	0.06	0.02	-0.08	-0.04	0.04	0.03	-0.01

Notes: The table illustrates the evolution across wave 1 (1993), wave 4(2007/08) and wave 5 (2014/15) in the share of workers in each employment status, sector, occupation skill level and formality by age cohorts in Indonesia. 'Diff' denoted the difference in the share between waves 1 and 4 (1993–2008) and waves 4 and 5 (2008–2015). Panel weights are applied. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

Appendix D: Transitions across labour market statuses over time by age-cohort, South Africa and Indonesia

Table D.1: Share of individuals transitioning across labour force statuses (employment, unemployment and inactivity) between survey waves in South Africa and Indonesia)

		South	Africa			Indo	nesia	
Cohort age in 2007/08	W1W2	W2W3	W3W4	W4W5	W1W2	W2W3	W3W4	W4W5
Youth (15-24)	38.22%	46.90%	49.74%	42.93%			57.22%	44.57%
Prime 1 (25-34)	44.53%	41.14%	33.47%	30.10%	44.35%	41.67%	34. <mark>1</mark> 6%	22.01%
Prime 2 (35-44)	36.38%	31.17%	34.33%	29.26%	23.17%	22.79%	18.67%	16.33%
Prime 3 (45-54)	31.98%	29.60%	29.22%	28.89%	17.16%	16.50%	16.31%	18.02%
Older (55-64)	27.04%	20.67%	22.46%	17.43%	16.24%	17.48%	22.19%	25.67%
Overall	35.92%	33.38%	34.45%	32.59%	21.08%	24.32%	24.70%	24.71%

Notes: The table depicts the share of individuals who have transitioned (irrespective of their direction) between labour force statuses (employment, unemployment and inactivity) between the respective survey waves Age cohorts fixed in W1 (2008) for South Africa and W4 (2007/08) for Indonesia, Panel weights applied. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS and IFLS.

▶ Table D.2: Share of individuals who have transitioned across different mid-skill level occupations in Indonesia

		Occupat	tion (craf	t/trades to	agriculture)	Occupa	tion (agri	culture to se	ervices and sales)	Occupa	tion (craft	t/trades to s	services/sales)
Birth year	Cohort age in W4 ('07/'08)	W1W2	W2W3	W3W4	W4W5	W1W2	W2W3	W3W4	W4W5	W1W2	W2W3	W3W4	W4W5
1983-1992	1-Youth (15-24)			2.22%	2.13%			4.32%	5.10%			2.76%	5.86%
1973-1982	2-Prime1 (25-34)	0.00%	5.44%	3.03%	2.21%	2.15%	1.85%	3.85%	3.64%	1.89%	4.38%	4.90%	4.51%
1963-1972	3-Prime2 (35-44)	2.00%	2.89%	2.24%	1.70%	3.86%	2.37%	2.80%	3.42%	2.87%	3.82%	4.32%	2.86%
1953-1962	4-Prime3 (45-54)	1.08%	3.92%	2.62%	2.38%	2.87%	2.37%	3.14%	4.10%	1.55%	3.28%	3.07%	2.65%
1943-1952	5-Older (55-64)	2.01%	3.44%	3.19%	1.30%	3.74%	2.60%	3.41%	4.97%	1.84%	1.99%	2.37%	1.69%
Overall		1.63%	3.72%	2.65%	2.00%	3.03%	2.40%	3.36%	4.00%	1.86%	3.06%	3.42%	3.29%

Notes: The table depicts the share of individuals who have transitioned between the following mid-level occupations in Indonesia: craft/trades to agriculture, agriculture to services and sales, and craft/trades to services and sales, across the respective survey waves. Age cohorts fixed in W4 (2007/08). Panel weights applied. *Source:* authors calculations based on IFLS.

Appendix E: Section 6 – Additional analyses

▶ Table E.1: South Africa: Occupation – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive skills

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Age	0.0539	0.0508	0.0571	0.0564
	(0.036)	(0.037)	(0.037)	(0.037)
Age ²	-0.0009**	-0.0008**	-0.0009**	-0.0009**
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0034	0.0024	0.0036	0.0036
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Rural	0.0628	0.0461	0.0642	0.0643
	(0.043)	(0.044)	(0.043)	(0.043)
Middle skill (edu)	-0.1040**	-0.1079**	-0.1070**	-0.1075**
	(0.046)	(0.046)	(0.046)	(0.046)
High skill (edu)	-0.1391***	-0.1456***	-0.1440***	-0.1439***
	(0.048)	(0.048)	(0.048)	(0.048)
Literacy home lang	0.0030			
	(0.012)			
Literacy english		0.0124		
		(0.011)		
Comp lit			-0.0122	
			(0.014)	
Driver's licence				-0.0373
				(0.028)
N	15497	14833	15174	15172
\mathbb{R}^2	0.523	0.521	0.523	0.523

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province and include individual and age-cohort x wave fixed effects. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

	1	2	3	4	5
Age	0.0138	0.0078	0.0156	0.0078	0.0144
	(0.034)	(0.035)	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.035)
Age ²	-0.0001	0.0001	-0.0001	-0.0000	-0.0001
0	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0062	-0.0063	-0.0067*	-0.0066*	-0.0069*
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Rural	0.0541	0.0559	0.0544	0.0587	0.0594
	(0.043)	(0.046)	(0.043)	(0.043)	(0.044)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0090	0.0112	0.0073	0.0047	0.0053
	(0.080)	(0.081)	(0.080)	(0.081)	(0.081)
High skill (edu)	-0.0021	-0.0056	-0.0037	-0.0036	-0.0061
0	(0.083)	(0.084)	(0.083)	(0.084)	(0.084)
Skill level occ	-0.0215	-0.0265*	-0.0217	-0.0202	-0.0216
	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.014)
Start informal	-0.3111***	-0.3097***	-0.3106***	-0.3174***	-0.3138**
	(0.020)	(0.020)	(0.020)	(0.020)	(0.020)
Literacy home lang	0.0034	· · · ·		, ,	
, ,	(0.013)				
Literacy english		-0.0042			
7 0		(0.011)			
Literacy both			0.0002		
			(0.011)		
Comp lit			()	0.0276**	
				(0.012)	
Driver's licence				()	-0.0094
					(0.025)
N	13112	12477	13116	12898	12895
\mathbb{R}^2	0.527	0.529	0.527	0.528	0.527

▶ Table E.2: South Africa: Nature of Employment – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive skills

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province and include individual and age-cohort x wave fixed effects. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

▶ Table E.3: South Africa: Sector – Stayers vs Transitioners

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS
Age	0.0165***	0.0588***	0.0219***	0.0396**	0.0369	0.0321
	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.018)	(0.037)	(0.037)
Age ²	-0.0002***	-0.0004***	-0.0002***	-0.0005***	-0.0004	-0.0004
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0048***	-0.0020	-0.0052***	-0.0034	-0.0030	-0.0025
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Rural	-0.0074	-0.0385**	-0.0076	-0.0655**	-0.0664**	-0.0691**
	(0.011)	(0.019)	(0.012)	(0.029)	(0.030)	(0.030)
Middle skill (edu)	-0.0074	0.0326	-0.0066	0.0234	0.0252	0.0119
	(0.016)	(0.039)	(0.017)	(0.062)	(0.060)	(0.058)
High skill (edu)	-0.0336*	0.0401	-0.0354*	0.0421	0.0426	0.0287
	(0.017)	(0.040)	(0.018)	(0.065)	(0.064)	(0.062)
Occ skill level	-0.0379***	-0.0132*	-0.0383***	-0.0161	-0.0162	-0.0170
	(0.008)	(0.007)	(0.008)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.014)
Start agriculture						-0.3790***
						(0.041)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	16518	25223	15814	12419	12419	12419
\mathbb{R}^2	0.021	0.089	0.022	0.561	0.564	0.572

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

	1	2	3	4	5
Age	0.0362	0.0384	0.0361	0.0382	0.0359
	(0.038)	(0.039)	(0.038)	(0.038)	(0.038)
Age^2	-0.0004	-0.0004	-0.0004	-0.0004	-0.0004
0	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0025	-0.0028	-0.0025	-0.0026	-0.0028
	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Rural	-0.0698**	-0.0818**	-0.0702**	-0.0712**	-0.0702**
	(0.031)	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.031)
Middle skill (edu)	-0.0108	-0.0177	-0.0097	-0.0066	-0.0084
	(0.056)	(0.056)	(0.056)	(0.056)	(0.056)
High skill (edu)	0.0033	0.0123	0.0040	0.0066	0.0056
	(0.059)	(0.060)	(0.059)	(0.060)	(0.059)
Skill level occ	-0.0172	-0.0135	-0.0173	-0.0167	-0.0164
	(0.015)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.015)
Start agriculture	-0.3827***	-0.3776***	-0.3810***	-0.3865***	-0.3928***
	(0.042)	(0.042)	(0.042)	(0.043)	(0.043)
Literacy home lang	-0.0083				
	(0.014)				
Literacy english		-0.0200			
		(0.013)			
Literacy both			-0.0131		
			(0.012)		
Comp lit				-0.0178	
				(0.012)	
Driver's licence					-0.0148
					(0.025)
N	12223	11653	12223	12029	12027
\mathbb{R}^2	0.574	0.576	0.574	0.574	0.574

▶ Table E.4: South Africa: Sector – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive skills

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Age	0.0020	0.0231***	0.0039	0.0088	-0.0033
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.013)	(0.022)
Age ²	-0.0000	-0.0001***	0.0000	-0.0001	0.0002
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0019*	-0.0004	-0.0019*	0.0031	0.0033
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Rural	0.0393***	-0.0158	0.0407***	0.0004	0.0062
	(0.009)	(0.012)	(0.009)	(0.019)	(0.020)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0070	0.0364*	0.0044	0.0420	0.0320
	(0.011)	(0.020)	(0.011)	(0.054)	(0.054)
High skill (edu)	-0.0053	0.0318	-0.0100	0.0330	0.0109
	(0.012)	(0.021)	(0.012)	(0.058)	(0.058)
Occ skill level				-0.0020	
				(0.010)	
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes
N	21469	34537	20510	15768	16917
\mathbb{R}^2	0.007	0.052	0.009	0.551	0.552

▶ Table E.5: South Africa: Status of employment – Stayers vs Transitioners

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source*: authors elaboration based on NIDS.

> Table E.6: South Africa: Status of employment – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive skills

Age	-0.0029	0.0148	-0.0026	-0.0053	-0.0044
	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.023)
Age^2	0.0002	-0.0000	0.0002	0.0002	0.0002
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0034	0.0027	0.0033	0.0031	0.0032
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Rural	0.0065	0.0019	0.0065	0.0085	0.0079
	(0.020)	(0.022)	(0.020)	(0.020)	(0.020)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0513	0.0582	0.0534	0.0492	0.0524
	(0.052)	(0.052)	(0.052)	(0.052)	(0.052)
High skill (edu)	0.0309	0.0268	0.0335	0.0306	0.0314
0	(0.056)	(0.056)	(0.056)	(0.056)	(0.056)
Literacy home lang	-0.0063				
	(0.008)				
Literacy english		0.0118			
		(0.007)			
Literacy both			0.0153*		
			(0.008)		
Comp lit				0.0187**	
				(0.009)	
Driver's licence					-0.0155
					(0.018)
N	16600	15877	16604	16250	16247
\mathbb{R}^2	0.553	0.552	0.553	0.553	0.552

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province and include individual and age-cohort x wave fixed effects. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. Source: authors elaboration based on NIDS.

200	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Age	-0.0186	0.0413***	0.0411***	0.0107***	0.0108***
	(0.047)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Age ²	-0.0014*	-0.0011***	-0.0011***	-0.0001***	-0.0001***
	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0046	-0.0036	-0.0036	0.0054***	0.0054***
	(0.011)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Rural	-0.1263**	-0.0515**	-0.0508**	0.0284***	0.0286***
	(0.061)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Mid-edu	-0.0373	-0.0127	-0.0124	-0.0232***	-0.0241***
	(0.102)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.007)	(0.007)
High-edu	-0.1054	-0.0296	-0.0296	-0.0948***	-0.0962***
	(0.121)	(0.047)	(0.047)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Occ skill	-0.0167	0.0051	0.0052	-0.0312***	-0.0313***
	(0.040)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Agric_start	-0.0838*	-0.0962***	-0.0970***	-0.1764***	-0.1762***
	(0.047)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Cog_easy	-0.0056				
	(0.006)				
Cog_hard		-0.0064**			0.0007
		(0.003)			(0.001)
All_cog			-0.0049**		
			(0.002)		
Neuroticism				0.0002	0.0002
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Extraversion				-0.0016	-0.0016
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Openness				0.0038**	0.0037**
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Agreeableness				-0.0023	-0.0023
				(0.002)	(0.002)
Conscientiousness				-0.0024	-0.0025
				(0.002)	(0.002)
Individual FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Age cohort X wave FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
N	1110	8601	8601	19568	19564
R ²	0.644	0.548	0.548	0.054	0.054

► Table E.7: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: sector - cognitive and socioemotional skills

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Age	-0.0473	0.0181	0.0181	0.0086***	0.0086***
	(0.046)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Age ²	-0.0004	-0.0004**	-0.0004**	-0.0001*	-0.0001*
	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0095	0.0030	0.0030	0.0084***	0.0084***
	(0.010)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Rural	0.0150	-0.0096	-0.0100	0.0409***	0.0407***
	(0.050)	(0.021)	(0.021)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Mid-edu	0.1314	0.0732**	0.0731**	-0.0538***	-0.0532***
	(0.092)	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.007)	(0.007)
High-edu	0.0642	0.0909*	0.0911*	-0.1080***	-0.1071***
	(0.109)	(0.047)	(0.047)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Occ skill	0.0043	0.0069	0.0070	-0.0135**	-0.0134**
	(0.033)	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.006)	(0.006)
CFW_start	-0.4791***	-0.3533***	-0.3531***	-0.1569***	-0.1572***
2.0	(0.044)	(0.019)	(0.019)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Cog_easy	0.0131***	10 10			
	(0.005)				
Cog hard		0.0043			-0.0006
0-		(0.003)			(0.001)
All cog			0.0025		
- 0			(0.002)		
Neuroticism				0.0010	0.0010
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Extraversion				0.0000	0.0000
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Openness				-0.0019	-0.0019
1				(0.001)	(0.001)
Agreeableness				0.0009	0.0008
0				(0.002)	(0.002)
Conscientiousness				-0.0010	-0.0010
				(0.002)	(0.002)
Individual FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Age cohort X wave FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
N	1074	8413	8413	19640	19635
R ²	0.718	0.573	0.573	0.053	0.053

> Table E.8: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: status of employment - cognitive and socioemotional skills

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, ** p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Age	0.0070***	0.0068***	0.0070***	0.0042**
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Age ²	-0.0001***	-0.0001***	-0.0001***	-0.0000**
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0021***	0.0024***	0.0023***	0.0019**
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Rural	-0.0166***	-0.0180***	-0.0181***	-0.0183***
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Mid-edu	0.0407***	0.0420***	0.0414***	0.0400***
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
High-edu	0.0691***	0.0720***	0.0666***	0.0600***
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Occ skill			0.0113***	0.0078*
			(0.004)	(0.004)
Informal_start				-0.0787***
				(0.003)
Age cohort FE	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
N	23005	21074	20973	20973
\mathbb{R}^2	0.028	0.026	0.027	0.056

▶ Table E.9: Indonesia: Nature of Employment – stayers vs transitioners

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

Table E.10: Indonesia: Nature of Employment – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive and socioemotional skills

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Age	-0.0713	0.0043**	0.0042**	0.0044**	0.0045**
	(0.055)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Age ²	0.0016	-0.0000**	-0.0000**	-0.0000**	-0.0000**
0	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0047**	0.0019**	0.0019**	0.0018**	0.0017**
	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Rural	-0.0188**	-0.0180***	-0.0179***	-0.0181***	-0.0176***
	(0.009)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Mid-edu	0.0198*	0.0384***	0.0380***	0.0398***	0.0380***
	(0.010)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
High-edu	0.0141	0.0572***	0.0560***	0.0601***	0.0571***
	(0.014)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Occ skill	0.0353***	0.0075*	0.0074*	0.0066	0.0064
	(0.010)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Informal_start	-0.0854***	-0.0783***	-0.0782***	-0.0782***	-0.0780**
	(0.009)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Cog easy	-0.0004				
<u> </u>	(0.002)				
Cog hard		0.0014**			0.0016**
0-		(0.001)			(0.001)
All cog			0.0012**		
- 0			(0.001)		
Neuroticism				-0.0028***	-0.0027***
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Extraversion				-0.0017**	-0.0017**
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Openness				0.0016**	0.0016**
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Agreeableness				-0.0020**	-0.0020*
0				(0.001)	(0.001)
Conscientiousness				-0.0001	-0.0002
				(0.001)	(0.001)
N	2093	20964	20964	19640	19635
\mathbb{R}^2	0.086	0.056	0.056	0.057	0.057

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province and include individual and age-cohort x wave fixed effects. *p < 0.1, ** p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source*: authors elaboration based on IFLS.

▶ Table E.11: Indonesia: Occupation – stayers vs transitioners

	(1)	(2)	(2)	(4)	(F)	(())
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0126***	0.0305***	0.0090***	0.0225***	0.0207***	0.0156***
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Age ²	-0.0001***	-0.0003***	-0.0001***	-0.0003***	-0.0002***	-0.0002***
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0031***	0.0041***	0.0034***	0.0043***	0.0038***	0.0041***
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Rural	-0.0373***	-0.0106	-0.0372***	-0.0075	-0.0069	-0.0055
	(0.003)	(0.008)	(0.003)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Mid-edu	0.0414***	-0.0121	0.0410***	-0.0146	-0.0145	-0.0120
	(0.003)	(0.010)	(0.003)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.009)
High-edu	0.0737***	0.0804***	0.0743***	0.0740***	0.0731***	0.0786***
0	(0.005)	(0.019)	(0.005)	(0.019)	(0.019)	(0.019)
Ind	, <i>,</i>		. ,	0.0142**	0.0142**	0.0143**
				(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)
Services				0.0461***	0.0463***	0.0765***
				(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.006)
Low start				(0.001)	(0.001)	-0.5680***
Lon_blar						(0.014)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	70106	70106	67926	47969	47969	47969
\mathbb{R}^2	0.043	0.063	0.043	0.515	0.517	0.549

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

2.0	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Age	-0.0591*	0.0226**	0.0226**	0.0102***	0.0103***
	(0.035)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Age ²	0.0005	-0.0003**	-0.0003**	-0.0001***	-0.0001***
0	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0072	0.0041	0.0041	0.0062***	0.0061***
	(0.008)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Rural	-0.0134	-0.0137	-0.0133	-0.0145***	-0.0137***
	(0.046)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Mid-edu	0.0385	0.0302	0.0304	0.0312***	0.0276***
	(0.058)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.005)	(0.005)
High-edu	0.2871***	0.2272***	0.2271***	0.0624***	0.0562***
U III	(0.089)	(0.041)	(0.041)	(0.008)	(0.009)
Ind	-0.0268	0.0196	0.0195	0.0650***	0.0637***
	(0.039)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.007)	(0.007)
Services	0.0116	0.0492***	0.0492***	0.0796***	0.0787***
	(0.039)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Low start	-0.6501***	-0.6233***	-0.6231***	-0.1037***	-0.1029***
and the second second second	(0.060)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Cog easy	-0.0093**	()	()	(/	()
	(0.004)				
Cog hard	(/	-0.0040*			0.0033***
0-		(0.002)			(0.001)
All cog		()	-0.0034**		()
			(0.002)		
Neuroticism			(0.002)	-0.0020*	-0.0018
				(0.001)	(0.001)
Extraversion				0.0001	0.0000
Extraversion				(0.001)	(0.001)
Openness				0.0022*	0.0020*
openness				(0.001)	(0.001)
Agreeableness				-0.0019	-0.0019
Greedenchess				(0.002)	(0.002)
Conscientiousness				0.0012	0.0012
conscientiousness				(0.001)	(0.001)
Individual FE	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Age cohort X wave FF	Ves	Ves	Ves	No	No
N	1110	8443	8443	19568	19564
	1110	0110	0110	19500	19004

▶ Table E.12: Indonesia: Occupation – stayers vs transitioners with cognitive and socioemotional skills

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source*: authors elaboration based on IFLS.

	(1)	(2)
	Sector	STE
Age	2.6872***	1.8816***
	(0.345)	(0.283)
Age ²	-0.6507***	-0.4537***
Ū.	(0.091)	(0.073)
HHsize	-0.0009	-0.0029*
	(0.002)	(0.002)
Rural	-0.0315***	0.0013
	(0.011)	(0.010)
Mid-edu	0.0026	-0.0054
	(0.016)	(0.013)
High-edu	-0.0473**	-0.0300*
	(0.024)	(0.018)
Occ skill	-0.0278***	-0.0124**
	(0.008)	(0.006)
Agric_start	-0.1230***	
Ŭ	(0.009)	
CFW_start		-0.3573***
		(0.011)
N	36253	47490
\mathbb{R}^2	0.540	0.495

▶ Table E.13: Indonesia: Sector and status of employment - fractional polynomial estimations

Notes: All estimations are linear probability models. Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province, as well as individual and age cohort X wave fixed effects. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on IFLS.

E.1: Estimations by gender

▶ Table E.14: South Africa stayers vs. transitioners: Occupation – Men

2025	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0243***	0.0812***	0.0242***	0.0400	0.0518	0.0370
	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.007)	(0.027)	(0.048)	(0.047)
Age ²	-0.0003***	-0.0005***	-0.0002***	-0.0006***	-0.0008	-0.0006
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)
HHsize	-0.0051**	0.0012	-0.0049**	0.0035	0.0042	0.0044
	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Rural	0.0602***	0.0444*	0.0616***	0.1013*	0.1074*	0.1320**
	(0.018)	(0.025)	(0.019)	(0.057)	(0.056)	(0.058)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0106	-0.0514	0.0084	-0.1386**	-0.1343**	-0.1335**
	(0.021)	(0.039)	(0.022)	(0.055)	(0.056)	(0.055)
High skill (edu)	0.0085	-0.0635	0.0040	-0.1870***	-0.1842***	-0.1760***
0	(0.022)	(0.042)	(0.023)	(0.056)	(0.058)	(0.057)
Start low-skilled occ						-0.4361***
						(0.033)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	10118	15950	9579	7946	7946	7946
\mathbb{R}^2	0.015	0.121	0.011	0.520	0.524	0.544

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source*: authors elaboration based on NIDS.

▶ Table E.15: South Africa stayers vs. transitioners: Occupation – Women

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0288***	0.0812***	0.0340***	0.0468*	0.0675	0.0644
	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.007)	(0.027)	(0.052)	(0.050)
Age ²	-0.0003***	-0.0006***	-0.0004***	-0.0007***	-0.0010*	-0.0009
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)
HHsize	-0.0041**	-0.0002	-0.0039*	0.0011	0.0014	0.0026
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Rural	-0.0070	-0.0557*	-0.0094	-0.0086	-0.0106	-0.0036
	(0.016)	(0.030)	(0.016)	(0.064)	(0.063)	(0.061)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0509***	-0.0030	0.0459**	0.0197	0.0255	-0.0030
	(0.018)	(0.042)	(0.019)	(0.049)	(0.048)	(0.052)
High skill (edu)	0.0465**	-0.0020	0.0387*	0.0083	0.0113	-0.0125
	(0.020)	(0.046)	(0.020)	(0.057)	(0.057)	(0.060)
Start low-skilled occ						-0.2284***
						(0.028)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	10055	16003	9757	7822	7822	7822
\mathbb{R}^2	0.021	0.112	0.022	0.520	0.522	0.531

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source*: authors elaboration based on NIDS.

▶ Table E.16: South Africa stayers vs transitioners: Nature of employment – Men

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0126***	0.0713***	0.0273***	0.0337	0.0252	-0.0144
	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.007)	(0.023)	(0.046)	(0.042)
Age^2	-0.0001***	-0.0005***	-0.0003***	-0.0004***	-0.0003	0.0003
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0007	-0.0048*	-0.0005	-0.0048	-0.0056	-0.0044
	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.005)
Rural	0.0050	-0.0194	0.0063	0.0005	-0.0095	0.0144
	(0.017)	(0.025)	(0.018)	(0.052)	(0.055)	(0.052)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0310	-0.0272	0.0317	-0.0379	-0.0239	-0.0496
	(0.019)	(0.047)	(0.020)	(0.087)	(0.094)	(0.091)
High skill (edu)	0.0449**	-0.0472	0.0420*	-0.0541	-0.0304	-0.0600
	(0.022)	(0.049)	(0.023)	(0.091)	(0.098)	(0.095)
Occ skill level					-0.0229	
					(0.020)	
Start at informal						-0.2849***
						(0.026)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	9037	14244	8576	6973	6472	6973
\mathbb{R}^2	0.007	0.087	0.013	0.510	0.512	0.530

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for the province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

▶ Table E.17: South Africa stayers vs transitioners: Nature of employment – Women

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0164***	0.0675***	0.0187***	0.0568**	0.0626	0.0511
	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.007)	(0.026)	(0.053)	(0.048)
Age^2	-0.0002***	-0.0005***	-0.0002**	-0.0006***	-0.0007	-0.0004
0	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0016	0.0009	0.0019	-0.0079	-0.0088*	-0.0062
	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Rural	-0.0208	0.0499	-0.0214	0.1375**	0.1433**	0.1493**
	(0.016)	(0.031)	(0.016)	(0.062)	(0.065)	(0.058)
Middle skill (edu)	0.0540***	0.0962	0.0508***	0.1834	0.1940	0.1561
	(0.018)	(0.064)	(0.018)	(0.117)	(0.125)	(0.113)
High skill (edu)	0.0306*	0.0912	0.0247	0.1713	0.1799	0.1331
	(0.018)	(0.066)	(0.019)	(0.122)	(0.129)	(0.117)
Occ skill level					-0.0261	
					(0.021)	
Start at informal						-0.3229***
						(0.026)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	9324	14940	9059	7214	6862	7214
\mathbb{R}^2	0.009	0.081	0.009	0.489	0.496	0.523

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for the province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source:* authors elaboration based on NIDS.

▶ Table E.18: Indonesia stayers vs. transitioners: Status of employment – Women

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0156***	0.0531***	0.0146***	0.0387***	0.0257***	0.0169**
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.008)	(0.007)
Age ²	-0.0001***	-0.0005***	-0.0001***	-0.0005***	-0.0003***	-0.0002**
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	-0.0010	-0.0039	0.0003	-0.0032	-0.0045	-0.0034
	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Rural	0.0414***	-0.0224	0.0460***	-0.0195	-0.0193	-0.0217
	(0.005)	(0.017)	(0.005)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.016)
Mid-edu	-0.0413***	0.0044	-0.0509***	0.0044	0.0003	-0.0055
	(0.005)	(0.024)	(0.005)	(0.025)	(0.025)	(0.024)
High-edu	-0.0964***	-0.0375	-0.1092***	-0.0443	-0.0549*	-0.0486
	(0.006)	(0.031)	(0.006)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.030)
Occ skill				-0.0008	-0.0023	-0.0019
				(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Start as CFW						-0.3198**
						(0.014)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	29315	29315	28482	19442	19442	19442
\mathbb{R}^2	0.069	0.094	0.071	0.492	0.496	0.515

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. Source: authors elaboration based on IFLS.

► Table E.19: Indonesia stayers vs. transitioners: Status of employment – Men

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0142***	0.0525***	0.0131***	0.0461***	0.0450***	0.0339***
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.007)	(0.007)
Age ²	-0.0001***	-0.0005***	-0.0001***	-0.0005***	-0.0005***	-0.0004***
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0024***	-0.0055**	0.0033***	-0.0058***	-0.0040*	-0.0017
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Rural	0.0196***	0.0128	0.0220***	0.0146	0.0141	0.0162
	(0.004)	(0.012)	(0.004)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)
Mid-edu	-0.0382***	-0.0044	-0.0422***	-0.0059	-0.0054	-0.0038
	(0.004)	(0.015)	(0.004)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.015)
High-edu	-0.0817***	-0.0032	-0.0869***	-0.0053	-0.0058	-0.0155
	(0.006)	(0.024)	(0.006)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.023)
Occ skill				-0.0159**	-0.0170**	-0.0179**
				(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Start as CFW						-0.4423***
						(0.018)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	40222	40222	38991	28045	28045	28045
\mathbb{R}^2	0.042	0.073	0.040	0.463	0.468	0.481

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source: authors elaboration based on IFLS.*

▶ Table E.20: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: Sector – Women

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0146***	0.0445***	0.0103***	0.0297***	0.0341***	0.0319***
	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.005)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Age ²	-0.0001***	-0.0004***	-0.0000***	-0.0004***	-0.0004***	-0.0004***
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0004	0.0009	0.0011	0.0015	0.0002	0.0007
	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Rural	0.0060	-0.0592***	0.0096*	-0.0575***	-0.0574***	-0.0594***
	(0.005)	(0.017)	(0.005)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)
Mid-edu	-0.0196***	0.0062	-0.0249***	0.0079	0.0038	0.0024
	(0.005)	(0.025)	(0.006)	(0.025)	(0.025)	(0.025)
High-edu	-0.0617***	-0.0372	-0.0684***	-0.0323	-0.0465	-0.0351
°	(0.006)	(0.036)	(0.007)	(0.037)	(0.037)	(0.036)
Occ skill				-0.0266**	-0.0270**	-0.0232**
				(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)
Start in agric						-0.1088***
						(0.013)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	25071	25071	24241	15005	15005	15005
\mathbb{R}^2	0.044	0.092	0.045	0.546	0.548	0.551

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. *Source: authors elaboration based on IFLS.*

▶ Table E.21: Indonesia stayers vs transitioners: Sector – Men

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Age	0.0215***	0.0628***	0.0173***	0.0527***	0.0485***	0.0448***
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.005)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Age^2	-0.0002***	-0.0006***	-0.0001***	-0.0006***	-0.0005***	-0.0005***
Ū.	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
HHsize	0.0056***	-0.0020	0.0064***	-0.0021	-0.0022	-0.0021
	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Rural	0.0018	-0.0133	0.0035	-0.0119	-0.0122	-0.0123
	(0.005)	(0.015)	(0.005)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.015)
Mid-edu	-0.0164***	0.0066	-0.0189***	0.0047	0.0049	0.0037
	(0.005)	(0.021)	(0.005)	(0.020)	(0.020)	(0.020)
High-edu	-0.0799***	-0.0390	-0.0836***	-0.0470	-0.0516	-0.0485
0	(0.007)	(0.032)	(0.007)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)
Occ skill		10 I I		-0.0330***	-0.0336***	-0.0304***
				(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Start in agric						-0.1334***
U						(0.013)
Individual FE	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Wave FE	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
Age cohort FE	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Age cohort X wave FE	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
N	33652	33652	32460	21247	21245	21245
\mathbb{R}^2	0.049	0.111	0.046	0.525	0.529	0.532

Notes: Clustered standard errors at the individual level are in parentheses. All columns control for province. *p < 0.1, * * p < 0.05, * * * p < 0.01. *Source: authors elaboration based on IFLS.*

References

Adhvaryu, N. K., Achyuta and Nyshadham, A. (forthcoming) Returns to on-the-job soft skills training, *Journal of Political Economy*.

Alderman, H., Behrman, J., Kohler, H.-P., Maluccio, J. A. and Watkins, S. (2001) Attrition in Longitudinal Household Survey Data: Some Tests for Three Developing-Country Samples, *Demographic Research*, **5**, 79–124.

Allen, E. R. (2016) Analysis of Trends and Challenges in the Indonesian Labor Market, Tech. Rep. No. 16.

Almlund, M., Duckworth, A. L., Heckman, J. and Kautz, T. (2011) Personality psychology and economics, in *Handbook of the Economics of Education*, Elsevier, vol. 4, pp. 1–181.

Atkinson, A. B. and Micklewright, J. (1991) Unemployment Compensation and Labor Market Transitions: A Critical Review, *Journal of Economic Literature*, **29**, 1679–1727, publisher: American Economic Association.

Banerjee, A., Galiani, S., Levinsohn, J., McLaren, Z. and Woolard, I. (2008) Why has unemployment risen in the New South Africa? 1, *Economics of Transition*, **16**, 715–740.

Becketti, S., Gould, W., Lillard, L. and Welch, F. (1988) The Panel Study of Income Dynamics after Fourteen Years: An Evaluatio n, *Journal of Labor Economics*, **6**, 472–92, publisher: University of Chicago Press.

Bennett, F., Escudero, V., Liepmann, H. and Podjanin, A. (2022) Using online vacancy and job applicants' data to study skills dynamics, ILO Working Paper 75.

Bhorat, H., Cassim, A. and Yu, D. (2016) Temporary employment services in South Africa: Assessing the industry's economic contribution, Tech. Rep. 28, Labour Market Intelligence Partnership, Pretoria.

Bhorat, H., Lilenstein, K., Oosthuizen, M. and Thornton, A. (2020a) The Evolution of Earnings and Employment in South Africa: Tasks, Occupations and Gender, 2000-2015, UNU WIDER ST Project Book Chapter, UN WIDER.

Bhorat, H., Lilenstein, K., Oosthuizen, M. and Thornton, A. (2020b) Structural transformation, inequality, and inclusive growth in South Africa, WIDER Working Paper 2020/50, UNU-WIDER, Helsinki.

Bhorat, H., Lilenstein, K., Oosthuizen, M. and Thornton, A. (2020c) Wage polarization in a high-inequality emerging economy: The case of South Africa, WIDER Working Paper 2020/55, UNU-WIDER, Helsinki.

Branson, N. and Leibbrandt, M. (2013) Educational Attainment and Labour Market Out- comes in South Africa, 1994-2010, publisher: OECD.

Branson, N. and Wittenberg, M. (2019) Longitudinal and Cross-Sectional Weights in the NIDS Data 1-5.

Byrne, D. and Strobl, E. (2004) Defining unemployment in developing countries: evidence from Trinidad and Tobago, *Journal of Development Economics*, **73**, 465–476.

Calero, C. and Delautre, G. (forthcoming) Participation and employment in seven developing economies: an age-period-cohort analysis, Working paper, ILO, Geneva.

Chioda, D. C.-L. P. G., Laura and Carney, D. (2021) Making entrepreneurs: Returns to training youth in hard versus soft business skills, Working Paper 28845, National Bureau of Economic Research, series: Working Paper Series.

Cichello, P., Leibbrandt, M. and Woolard, I. (2014) Winners and losers: South African labour-market dynamics between 2008 and 2010, *Development Southern Africa*, **31**, 65–84.

Comola, M. and Mello, L. D. (2011) How Does Decentralized Minimum Wage Setting Affect Employment and Informality? The Case of Indonesia, *Review of Income and Wealth*, **57**, S79–S99, _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1475-4991.2011.00451.x.

Cunha, F., Heckman, J. J. and Schennach, S. M. (2010) Estimating the technology of cognitive and noncognitive skill formation, *Econometrica*, **78**, 883–931.

Dartanto, T., Moeis, F. R. and Otsubo, S. (2020) Intragenerational Economic Mobility in Indonesia: A Transition from Poverty to the Middle Class in 1993–2014, *Bulletin of Indonesian Economic Studies*, **56**, 193–224, publisher: Routledge _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00074918.2019.1657795.

Deming, D. (2017) The growing importance of social skills in the labor market, *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **132**, 1593–1640.

Deming, D. J. (2022) Four facts about human capital, Journal of Economic Perspectives, 36, 75–102.

Dimitriadis, S. and Koning, R. (2022) Social skills improve business performance: Evidence from a randomized control trial with entrepreneurs in togo, *Management Science*.

Duryea, S., Lam, D. and Levison, D. (2007) Effects of economic shocks on children's employment and schooling in Brazil, *Journal of Development Economics*, **84**, 188–214.

Essers, D. (2016) South African Labour Market Transitions Since the Global Financial and Economic Crisis: Evidence from two Longitudinal Datasets, *Journal of African Economies*, **2**.

Fitzgerald, J., Gottschalk, P. and Moffitt, R. (1998) An Analysis of Sample Attrition in Panel Data: The Michigan Panel Study of Income Dynamics, *The Journal of Human Resources*, **33**, 251.

Fox, L., Haines, C., Munoz, J. H. and Thomas, A. H. (2013) Africa's Got Work to Do: Employment Prospects in the New Century, *IMF Working Papers*, **13**.

Glewwe, P., Huang, Q. and Park, A. (2017) Cognitive skills, noncognitive skills, and school- to-work transitions in rural China, *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, **134**, 141–164.

Gutierrez, I. A., Kumar, K. B., Mahmud, M., Munshi, F. and Nataraj, S. (2019) Transitions between informal and formal employment: results from a worker survey in Bangladesh, *IZA Journal of Development and Migration*, **9**, 3.

Hansen, T. R.-R. S., Stephen and Fuller, J. (2021) The demand for executive skills, Working Paper 28959, National Bureau of Economic Research, series: Working Paper Series.

Heckman, J., Pinto, R. and Savelyev, P. (2013) Understanding the mechanisms through which an influential early childhood program boosted adult outcomes, *American Eco- nomic Review*, **103**, 2052–86.

Heckman, J. J., Jagelka, T. and Kautz, T. D. (2019) Some Contributions of Economics to the Study of Personality, Working Paper 26459, National Bureau of Economic Research, series: Working Paper Series.

Heckman, J. J., Stixrud, J. and Urzua, S. (2006) The effects of cognitive and noncognitive abilities on labor market outcomes and social behavior, *Journal of Labor economics*, **24**, 411–482.

Hoffman, M. and Tadelis, S. (2021) People management skills, employee attrition, and manager rewards: An empirical analysis, *Journal of Political Economy*, **129**, 243–285.

ILO (2003) Guidelines concerning a statistical definition of informal employment, Meeting document, Geneva.

ILO (2005) *Working out of disaster: improving employment and livelihood in countries affected by the tsunami*, International Labour Organization, Bangkok, oCLC: 71757259.

ILO (2012) International Standard Classification of Occupations 2008 (ISCO-08): structure, group definitions and correspondence tables, International Labour Office.

ILO (2015) Recommendation No. 204 concerning the Transition from the Informal to the Formal Economy, Meeting document, International Labour Office, Geneva.

ILO (2018) Informality and non-standard forms of employment, Report, International Labour Organization, Geneva.

Jones, S. R. G. and Riddell, W. C. (1995) The Measurement of Labor Force Dynamics with Longitudinal Data: The Labour Market Activity Survey Filter, *Journal of Labor Economics*, **13**, 351–385, publisher: The University of Chicago Press.

Jones, S. R. G. and Riddell, W. C. (1999) The Measurement of Unemployment: An Empirical Approach, *Econometrica*, **67**, 147–162, _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1468-0262.00007.

Kingdon, G. and Knight, J. (2007) Unemployment in South Africa, 1995–2003: Causes, Problems and Policies, *Journal of African Economies*, **16**, 813–848.

Kingdon, G. G. and Knight, J. (2004) Unemployment in South Africa: The Nature of the Beast, *World Development*, **32**, 391–408.

Kirchberger, M. (2017) Natural disasters and labor markets, *Journal of Development Eco- nomics*, **125**, 40–58.

Mani, S., Mitra, S. and Sambamoorthi, U. (2018) Dynamics in health and employment: Evidence from Indonesia, *World Development*, **104**, 297–309.

Manning, C. and Pratomo, D. (2018) Labour Market Developments in the Jokowi Years,

Southeast Asian Economies, **35**, 165–184.

McCaig, B. and Pavcnik, N. (2015) Informal Employment in a Growing and Globalizing Low-Income Country, *American Economic Review*, **105**, 545–550.

Naidoo, D., Packard, T. and Auwalin, I. (2015) Mobility, Scarring and Job Quality in Indonesia's Labor Market, Working Paper, The World Bank.

Osberg, L. (1993) Fishing in Different Pools: Job-Search Strategies and Job-Finding Success in Canada in the Early 1980s, *Journal of Labor Economics*, **11**, 348–386, publisher: The University of Chicago Press.

O'Higgins, N., Viegelahn, C. et al. (2021) Informal employment in vietnam: Trends and determinants.

Pugatch, T. (2018) Bumpy Rides: School-to-work Transitions in South Africa, LABOUR, 32, 205–242.

Quintini, G. and Martin (2014) Same Same but Different: School-to-work Transitions in Emerging and Advanced Economies, OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers 154, series: OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers Volume: 154.

Rodrik, D. (2008) Understanding South Africa's economic puzzles*, *Eco- nomics of Transition and Institutional Change*, **16**, 769–797, _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1468-0351.2008.00343.x.

Rothenberg, A. D., Gaduh, A., Burger, N. E., Chazali, C., Tjandraningsih, I., Radikun, R., Sutera, C. and Weilant, S. (2016) Rethinking Indonesia's Informal Sector, *World Develop- ment*, **80**, 96–113.

Sahin, H. and Kizilirmak, A. B. (2007) Determinants of duration of unemployment insurance benefits in Turkey, *Applied Economics Letters*, **14**, 611–615.

Samaniego, B. and Viegelahn, C. (2021) Estimating labour market transitions from labour force surveys: The case of Viet Nam, Working paper 35, ILO, Geneva, iSBN: 9789220349991.

Setyonaluri, D. (2014) Women Interrupted: Determinants of Women's Employment Exit and Return in Indonesia, *Bulletin of Indonesian Economic Studies*, **50**, 485–486.

Strauss, J., Witoelar, F. and Sikoki, B. (2016) *The fifth wave of the Indonesia family life survey: overview and field report*, vol. 1, RAND Santa Monica, CA.

Tentua, M. N. and Winarko, E. (2020) Applying Data Mining to Analysis of Mismatch Between Education and Labor Market in Indonesia, *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, **771**, 012020, publisher: IOP Publishing.

Thomas, D., Witoelar, F., Frankenberg, E., Sikoki, B., Strauss, J., Sumantri, C. and Suriastini,

W. (2012) Cutting the costs of attrition: Results from the Indonesia Family Life Survey, *Journal of Development Economics*, **98**, 108–123.

van den Berg, G.J. (1990) Search Behaviour, Transitions to Non-participation and the Duration of Unemployment, *The Economic Journal*, **100**, 842–865, publisher: [Royal Economic Society, Wiley].

Vega Núñez, A. P. (2018) Analysis of formal-informal transitions in the Ecuadorian labour market, *CEPAL Review*, **2017**, 78–95.

Wooldridge, J. M. (2010) *Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data, second edition*, MIT Press, google-Books-ID: hSs3AgAAQBAJ.

Zizzamia, R. (2020) Is employment a panacea for poverty? A mixed-methods investigation of employment decisions in South Africa, *World Development*, **130**, 104938

Acknowledgements

We thank Janine Berg, Jens Dyring Christensen, Guillaume Delautre, and Christian Viegelahn for their helpful comments and suggestions on various versions of the paper, and Hannah Liepmann and Willian Boschetti for valuable contributions. We thank as well Haroon Bhorat, Kazutoshi Chatani, Sara Elder, Joni Musabayana, Akiko Sakamoto, Ken Chamuva Shawa and Theodoor Sparreboom for their valuable input to the project design and country contextual insights. Lastly, we thank participants of the ILO-EU Regional Workshop on Changing Labour Market Transitions and Life Courses (2021), the ILERA conference (2021) and the BeNA Labor Economics Workshop (2022) for their feedback. The responsibility for opinions expressed in this article rests solely with its authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the International Labour Office of the opinions expressed in it.

Advancing social justice, promoting decent work

The International Labour Organization is the United Nations agency for the world of work. We bring together governments, employers and workers to improve the working lives of all people, driving a human-centred approach to the future of work through employment creation, rights at work, social protection and social dialogue.

Contact details

Research Department (RESEARCH)

International Labour Organization Route des Morillons 4 1211 Geneva 22 Switzerland T +41 22 799 6530 research@ilo.org www.ilo.org/research



